# Critical Waste Issues for the for Congress



#### About CAGW

Citizens Against Government Waste (CAGW) is a private, nonprofit, nonpartisan organization dedicated to educating the American public about waste, mismanagement, and inefficiency in government.

CAGW was founded in 1984 by J. Peter Grace and nationally syndicated columnist Jack Anderson to build public support for implementation of the Grace Commission recommendations and other waste-cutting proposals. Since its inception, CAGW has been at the forefront of the fight for efficiency, economy, and accountability in government.

CAGW has more than 1 million members and supporters nationwide. Since 1984, CAGW and its members have helped save taxpayers more than \$1.8 trillion. CAGW publishes special reports, including the *Congressional Pig Book* and *Prime Cuts*, as well as its official newspaper *Government WasteWatch* and blog *The WasteWatcher*, to expose government waste and educate the American people on what they can do to stop the abuse of their hard-earned money. Internet, print, radio, and television news outlets regularly feature CAGW's publications and experts.

1100 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Suite 650 Washington, D.C 20036 (202) 467-5300 www.cagw.org

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	2
Accountability, Oversight, and Transparency	4
Budget Reform	7
Civil Service Reform	9
Department of Defense	11
Earmarks	16
Energy	19
Entitlements	21
Federal Real Property	28
Financial Services	30
Healthcare	34
Intellectual Property Rights	38
Institutional Reforms to Congress	41
Labor Law and Pension Reform	43
Privacy	45
Regulatory Reform	48
Technology Modernization	50
Telecommunications	53
U.S. Postal Service Reform	55

#### Introduction

Following the 2018 U.S. elections, the need for proposals and action to cut wasteful spending is greater than ever. Far too many members of Congress are clamoring for bigger, more intrusive government, like Medicare for all and "free" college tuition and housing. With a deficit of \$897 billion projected for fiscal year (FY) 2019 and trillion-dollar-plus deficits projected beginning in FY 2022, along with a national debt that is fast approaching \$22 trillion, this is not the time to capitulate to calls to spend more of the taxpayers' money. It is time for action to reduce the size and scope of the federal government.

Citizens Against Government Waste (CAGW) has been exposing earmarks in the *Congressional Pig Book* since 1991 and publishing a comprehensive database of recommendations to consolidate and terminate wasteful and inefficient programs in *Prime Cuts* since 1993. The publication of *Critical Waste Issues* provides a more concentrated list of some of the important proposals that CAGW believes will result in a smaller and more efficient government.

Critical Waste Issues for the 116th Congress details 18 policy areas that require immediate attention, including the need for greater accountability and transparency. Policymakers have considered many of these recommendations in the past, and completely ignored others. But with more concern than ever focused on the size and scope of the federal government, it is now time to have them implemented.

For example, the Government Accountability Office (GAO) has issued annual reports on duplicative and overlapping programs since 2011. In the 2012 annual report, GAO identified 209 science, technology, engineering and math (STEM) programs, and noted that despite spending \$3.1 billion on those programs through 13 different agencies, U.S. students "continue to lag behind students in other highly technological nations in mathematics and science achievement." Even though this problem had not been solved by existing programs (most of which had not been evaluated for effectiveness), Congress and the executive branch continued to create new programs. GAO concluded that this proliferation of programs, one-third of which had been first funded between 2005 and 2010, in and of itself had contributed to inefficiencies in the focus and delivery of all of these programs across the federal government.

Even though the number of such programs has been slightly reduced, the STEM story is emblematic of the proclivity in the nation's capital to create a program in order to "solve" a perceived problem. If a current program isn't working, it doesn't need to be fixed, because Congress can just "buy" something new to perform the same function.

# **Introduction (continued)**

The resulting duplication and overlap and waste of taxpayer dollars is in large part due to the lack of sufficient congressional oversight to hold federal agencies accountable for results. If members do not take the time to determine which programs are working and which are wasteful, they cannot effectively allocate money. Therefore, while it is clearly the wrong solution to this lazy approach to governing, it may nonetheless be somewhat understandable that members of Congress take the "easy way" out and just create unaccountable, expensive new programs on top of equivalent programs.

It is time to repair the damage done by years of runaway spending and government waste. The adoption of the recommendations in *Critical Waste Issues for the 116th Congress* will help restore effective and efficient government. Excessive government spending results in greater involvement and interference in the economy and less personal freedom. Eliminating government waste would help transfer power from Washington bureaucrats back to the states and the people.

CAGW's mission reflects the interests of taxpayers. All citizens benefit when government programs work cost-effectively, deficit spending is reduced, and government is transparent and held accountable. Not only will representative government benefit from the pursuit of these interests, but the country will prosper economically because government mismanagement, fiscal profligacy and chronic deficits soak up private savings and crowd out the private investment necessary for long-term growth.

*Critical Waste Issues for the 116th Congress* should be mandatory reading for taxpayers, the media, and all members of Congress as they tackle the biggest issues facing America.

### Accountability, Oversight, and Transparency

The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), <u>enacted</u> in 1967 to codify Americans' right to request and receive in a timely manner any nonproprietary information that doesn't compromise national security, has become a black hole for both taxpayers and the media.<sup>2</sup>

The Obama administration <u>promised</u> to be "the most transparent administration in history" and set out to reduce the overall FOIA backlog by 10 percent annually. Despite that lofty goal, the number of unanswered FOIA requests <u>reached</u> 200,000 in 2015, up by 55 percent from 2013. To address the concerns of news organizations and taxpayers alike, Congress <u>passed</u> the FOIA Improvement Act, signed into law by President Obama on June 30, 2016. While the legislation certainly helped give requesters a stronger legal precedent in court by codifying presumptions of disclosure, it did little to make the process more substantive and efficient.

According to the Justice Department's Office of Information Policy, in FY 2017 the federal government's more than 400 FOIA offices <u>reduced</u> the backlog of unanswered requests by 3.2 percent and had an 8.3 percent increase in processed FOIA requests compared with FY 2016.<sup>5</sup> While those numbers show improvement, staffing and technological usage deficiencies continue to hold agencies back from reaching the annual 10 percent mark.

The way in which FOIA staffers answer requests is also very concerning. A March 12, 2018, Associated Press analysis <u>stated</u> that out of 823,222 answered requests in FY 2017, 78 percent were answered as censored files or blank.<sup>6</sup> In other words, only about one in five FOIA requests were fully answered. The federal government also <u>spent</u> a record \$40.6 million in FY 2017 on legal fees defending its FOIA withholding decisions.<sup>7</sup>

The FOIA process continues to be woefully inefficient. The 116th Congress should fix this fractured and unresponsive process.

As internal government information is being obscured, the two largest taxpayer watchdogs, the GAO and the 72 federal agency Offices of Inspector General (OIGs), continue to pay for themselves, while rooting out waste, fraud, and abuse.

A June 2016 Brookings Institution <u>report</u> found that "from 2010–2014, the mean annual return on investment for IGs was 13.41." In other words, for every dollar spent, the OIGs brought in \$13.41 in savings.

In its FY 2019 budget request, GAO <u>documented</u> that "in FY 2017, GAO's work resulted in a return of \$128 for every dollar invested in GAO, generating almost \$74 billion in financial benefits to the federal government." Since FY 2003, GAO's reports have <u>totaled</u> more than \$785 billion in financial benefits. 10

# Accountability, Oversight, and Transparency (continued)

The 116th Congress should continue to fully fund GAO and the OIGs and protect these profitable watchdogs from the threat of spending reductions.

In 2010, Congress passed the Improper Payments Elimination and Recovery Act. The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) subsequently established the Recovery Audit Contractor (RAC) program through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) to allow private-sector auditors to identify and recover improper payments by Medicare providers. Medicare is the largest source of improper payments, accounting for nearly \$40 billion annually, according to "Recovery Auditing in Medicare Fee-For-Service for Fiscal Year 2016," a report to Congress released on September 19, 2018.<sup>11</sup>

The RAC program costs taxpayers nothing, since auditors are compensated directly from the funds they recover on behalf of the Medicare Trust Fund. RACs have been highly successful, recovering nearly \$9 billion in improper payments between FYs 2010 and 2014, and they have served as both an educational resource for legitimate providers and a deterrent to unscrupulous or sloppy providers submitting error-ridden claims. <sup>12</sup> However, in August 2013, large provider groups with high claims error rates lobbied both HHS agency officials and members of Congress to nullify or suspend large segments of RAC audits.

Unsurprisingly, improper payment rates for Medicare have either increased or remained steady <u>since</u> 2013<sup>13</sup> and Medicare's actuaries have <u>projected</u> that the program will slip into insolvency by 2026.<sup>14</sup> It is unconscionable, therefore, that more than 95 percent of Medicare fee-for-service (FFS) claims are paid without a review for billing accuracy, especially when CMS has at its disposal a RAC program with a proven track record of preventing improper payments.

In September 2012, CMS <u>launched</u> a prepayment review demonstration project in 11 states with high incidences of improper payments and fraud, as well as four states with high numbers of short hospital stays. Despite being hamstrung by CMS rules that prevented RACs from freely pursuing areas of vulnerability in Medicare claims and the abrupt truncation of the program one year short of its statutory three-year duration, the RAC program's prepayment demonstration project still <u>recovered</u> a net of \$19 million on behalf of Medicare beneficiaries. Furthermore, the contractors participating in the prepayment review demonstration were able to examine the claims and resolve any billing errors within the legally mandated 30-day payment window, so as not to unduly burden Medicare providers by delaying their reimbursements.

# Accountability, Oversight, and Transparency (continued)

GAO has repeatedly <u>recommended</u> that CMS fully implement this highly successful program, and the current RAC arrangements contain enabling language for prepayment reviews.<sup>17</sup> Yet the Obama administration paused the prepayment review program and then allowed it to lapse entirely.

In a July 25, 2018, speech before the Commonwealth Club of California, CMS Administrator Seema Verma <u>addressed</u> Medicare's chronic vulnerability to fraud and improper payments, saying, "We need to learn from our private sector colleagues, so we can be more efficient and do an even better job of safeguarding the fiscal integrity of our programs. ... we will use our demonstration authority to do more on program integrity. We need to modernize Medicare and how it handles waste, fraud, and abuse." Medicare program integrity is clearly a high priority for the Trump administration, and it should also be for the 116th Congress.

Congress should grant CMS the approval it requires to revive and make permanent a nationwide Medicare prepayment claims review program. Furthermore, RACs should be allowed to use their proprietary data analytics technology, which has been used with great success for Medicare postpayment claims reviews, to identify billing areas with a propensity for erroneous payments and help prevent such payments to providers before they occur. This type of improved oversight can include not only RAC prepayment reviews, but also other tools like Medicare "smart card" technology, which the House of Representatives authorized in a pilot project in 2018.

Adding a significant prepayment review program, coupled with the current postpayment review program, is exactly the kind of private-sector best practice CMS is seeking to help prevent tens of billions in losses each year to protect Medicare now and in the future.

Restoring the full scope of the RAC program, sufficiently funding GAO and the OIGs, and further reforming the FOIA process would help demonstrate that eradicating waste, fraud, abuse, and mismanagement is being taken seriously in Washington. It would also overcome the institutional bias on Capitol Hill, in particular, that problems can be solved by creating and funding new programs rather than conducting vigorous oversight to determine the effectiveness of existing expenditures.

Members of the 116th Congress must regain the public's trust by rediscovering and recommitting themselves to scrutinizing every corner of the federal budget, reinstating and repairing some of the government's most powerful waste-fighting tools, and working to open the books to all Americans.

# **Budget Reform**

The current <u>budget process</u> in Congress was established in 1974 by the Congressional Budget and Impoundment Control Act, also known as the Congressional Budget Act (CBA).<sup>19</sup> The CBA created the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the Budget Committees in the Senate and House of Representatives. The budget process in Congress is totally broken, and reform is crucial for getting government spending under control.

According to the process established by the CBA, Congress is supposed to agree on a concurrent budget resolution by every April 15th for the coming fiscal year to set spending and revenue levels, covering 21 broadly defined functions of government. However, this timeline has been mostly ignored by Congress as all appropriations bills have been passed on time since the CBA's enactment only in four fiscal years — 1977, 1989, 1995 and 1997. Congress has instead resorted to passing continuing resolutions, which provide funding similar to the previous year's level.<sup>20</sup>

Passing biennial budgets that cover two years would bring increased stability and predictability to a chaotic process that has been subject to partisan bickering and grandstanding, last-minute giveaways, and government shutdowns. Regular, predictable biennial budgeting would enable Congress to increase oversight and make the process more transparent.

In addition to embracing a biennial budget process, Congress should also adopt zero-based budgeting, in which the starting number for any expenditure is zero, instead of starting each item in the budget with whatever was spent the previous year. Expenditures on any program must all be justified, not simply assumed. Congress should also enact sunset clauses to ensure that government spending does not outlive its usefulness and future spending can be paused while an evaluation of its effectiveness can be conducted. No program that was enacted 20 or 50 years ago should automatically be renewed.

Budget reform is made even more essential given the spiraling national debt, which currently stands at \$21.9 trillion. This figure is set to explode in the coming years, and the debt as a percentage of annual economic output is set to <u>increase</u> to its highest level since the years immediately following World War II.<sup>21</sup>

When a new Congress convenes every two years, the majority party in each chamber decides the rules and procedures that will govern the Senate and House respectively. Democrats, who control the House during the 116th Congress, have revived the "Gephardt Rule," introduced by former Rep. Dick Gephardt (D-Mo.), which automatically raises the debt ceiling whenever the House passes a budget. The Gephardt Rule was originally in effect from 1979 to 1995, when it was wisely repealed by the new Republican majority. The

# **Budget Reform (continued)**

revival of the rule makes it easier to raise the federal borrowing limit, thus greatly reducing the likelihood of reducing spending to help rein in the national debt.

Lawmakers remain bitterly divided along partisan lines regarding how to address the gap between revenues and expenditures. CBO is <u>projecting</u> an \$879 billion deficit in FY 2019 and trillion-plus deficits beginning in FY 2022.<sup>22</sup> This will mark the second time the U.S. will run annual deficits in excess of \$1 trillion, with the first occurring during the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis and resulting recession.

Every part of the congressional budget process must be reformed to bring back fiscal restraint. The following proposals are essential:

- 1. Biennial budgets: Pass budgets that cover two years.
- Zero-based budgeting: Start the budgeting process for each expenditure from a zero base.
- 3. Joint budget resolution: Convert the concurrent budget resolution into a joint budget resolution that is signed into law by the president.
- 4. Point-of-order protection: Amend the rules of the House so that any rule waiving applicable spending points of order would also face a point of order.
- 5. Entitlement cap: Limit growth in entitlement spending to the current inflationary adjustment for each program and population growth.
- 6. End the Gephardt Rule: Repeal the rule that makes it easier to raise the federal borrowing limit.
- 7. Family budget protection accounts: Allow Congress to target spending during the appropriations and direct spending processes and allow that spending to be redirected for deficit reduction.
- 8. Enhanced rescission: Give the president power to propose the elimination of wasteful spending in appropriations bills, which would be given expedited legislative consideration.

Congress's inability to adhere to the requirements of the budget process proves that the system needs reform. Following these recommendations would increase accountability and improve the chances of passing the appropriations bills on time.

#### Civil Service Reform

The federal government is the largest single <u>employer</u> in the nation with more than two million civilian workers, all of whom are unionized.<sup>23</sup> Salaries are paid by taxpayers, who should expect accountability for how workers perform on the job and spend their time.

One of the most prominent issues facing the federal civil service is the use of "official time." Under the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, federal employees are allowed to conduct union business during work hours while being paid their full salary. These taxpayer-funded union duties include negotiating collective bargaining agreements and filing and handling grievances against the agencies where they are employed. There is no cap on either the number of hours an individual can spend on official time or the total number of hours that can be spent on official time government wide or within each agency.

The Office of Personnel Management (OPM) reported that in FY 2016, federal workers used more than 3.6 million hours of official time at a taxpayer cost of \$175 million, 24 a 4 percent increase in time25 and a \$12 million increase in cost from FY 2014. 26 The OPM report noted, "Generally speaking, federal law does not require agencies to track official time expenditures or provide agencies with uniform recordkeeping standards for official time." An October 2014 GAO report echoed the lack of accurate measurement tools and warned that the true cost of official time could be much higher than OPM's numbers. 27

In a series of executive orders issued May 25, 2018, President Trump attempted to crack down on abuse of official time. One order <u>instituted</u> a 25 percent cap on the amount of time a federal employee is permitted to spend on union duties.<sup>28</sup> That order also barred employees from lobbying Congress while on the taxpayers' dime, stating, "Federal employees should spend the clear majority of their duty hours working for the public."

Another order <u>streamlined</u> the ability of departments and agencies to terminate employees in a more expedited fashion.<sup>29</sup> A February 2015 GAO report <u>found</u> that it took an average of a year or longer to fire a lackluster federal worker.<sup>30</sup> The executive order instituted a 30-day cap on a worker's mandated "Performance Improvement Plan."

Unfortunately, on August 25, 2018, a U.S. District Court <u>struck</u> down nearly all provisions in the orders<sup>31</sup> and the Washington, D.C., Circuit Court of Appeals <u>denied</u> the administration's request for an expedited appeal on October 19, 2018.<sup>32</sup> On October 5, 2018, OPM Director Jeff Pon <u>resigned</u>, further slowing down the reform process.<sup>33</sup>

As the broader effort at civil service reform sputters, a more focused, department-level reform has been enacted. After the insidious wait times scandal at the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA),<sup>34</sup> Congress passed

#### Civil Service Reform (continued)

and President Trump signed into law the Department of Veterans Affairs Accountability and Whistleblower Protection Act on June 23, 2017.<sup>35</sup> The law expedites the process of dismissing an employee to less than a month, significantly shortening a process that had previously taken several months or years.

The fits and starts of civil service reform make it even more critical for Congress to consider key pieces of legislation that would help accomplish the goal of a leaner and more accountable federal workforce. In March 2015, Rep. Jody Hice (R-Ga.) and Sen. Johnny Isakson (R-Ga.) <u>introduced</u> the Federal Employee Accountability Act, which would eliminate official time for federal employees.<sup>36</sup> Federal workers acting as union representatives would no longer be paid by taxpayers to negotiate their collective bargaining contracts. These companion bills never moved out of their respective committees.

On January 13, 2017, Rep. Barry Loudermilk (R-Ga.) <u>introduced</u> the Modern Employment Reform, Improvement, and Transformation (MERIT) Act.<sup>37</sup> Sen. David Purdue (R-Ga.) <u>introduced</u> companion legislation in the Senate on July 12, 2018.<sup>38</sup> The bills would give a fired employee just 30 days to appeal and would double the probationary period for new hires, making it easier to dismiss employees who are not a good fit. The House version passed out of the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee on July 17, 2018, but it died on the House floor. The Senate bill was never considered.

Federal workers who collect paychecks funded with taxpayer dollars should be held to the highest performance and ethical standards. Any federal employee who breaches the public trust through poor performance or unethical behavior should be subject to a fair but swift termination process. As the executive branch implements reforms, Congress should also exercise its authority to ensure that the federal bureaucracy is not taking advantage of taxpayers.

### Department of Defense

As the U.S. federal budget increases every year, it is entirely possible that one day soon the budget for the Department of Defense (DOD), which is the government's largest discretionary expenditure, will eclipse \$1 trillion annually. The \$717 billion approved for FY 2019 is one of the <a href="highest">highest</a> amounts in U.S. history, accounting for approximately one-sixth of federal spending. <sup>39</sup> Making matters worse, the DOD remains the sole federal agency that has not undergone a clean audit under the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990.

To ensure the DOD spends its dollars wisely, the 116th Congress should focus on two key areas.

#### Financial Disarray

In November 2018, the DOD released the results of its first-ever departmentwide audit. It did not bode well for the Pentagon. Speaking to reporters on November 15, 2018, Deputy Secretary of Defense Patrick Shanahan <u>stated</u>, "We failed the audit, but we never expected to pass it."

Although a few areas, such as the Army Corps of Engineers, the Defense Health Agency, and the Military Retirement Fund, <u>received</u> a passing grade, the DOD largely met the ultra-low expectations it had set for the audit.<sup>41</sup> The inspection revealed "significant information technology systems security issues" and 20 "material weaknesses" in internal controls. Although the report did not identify specific instances of fraud, it revealed that the Pentagon does not adequately track the various payments it makes, bringing into question the veracity of financial statements.

The audit provided insight into multiple areas where the Pentagon can improve, including compliance with cybersecurity policies and improving inventory accuracy. Although the DOD has already begun addressing some of the failures identified, spending approximately \$559 million on fixes, it did not disclose how much money had turned up missing.<sup>42</sup> Considering the \$2.7 trillion in assets, \$2.6 trillion in liabilities, and near-record levels of spending in FY 2019, that amount is likely to be substantial.

The necessity for the Pentagon to get its financial house in order is revealed on a regular basis, as numerous problems have cropped up in recent years. A July 26, 2016 DOD OIG <u>report</u> noted that the Defense Financing and Accounting Service, which provides payment for military and civilian personnel and retirees, could not adequately document \$6.5 trillion worth of year-end adjustments to general fund transactions and data. The books are so bad that areas within the DOD have been on the GAO list of programs at high risk for waste, fraud, abuse, and mismanagement since 1995.

The road to the failed audit has been long and arduous. In 2013, the Pentagon announced with much fanfare that the Marine Corps had become the first military service to attain a clean audit.<sup>44</sup> Then-Secretary of Defense Chuck Hagel even held a ceremony on February 6, 2014, stating, "I know that it might seem a bit unusual to be in the Hall of Heroes to honor a bookkeeping accomplishment, but, damn, this is an accomplishment!"

Damn, that celebration was short-lived. A July 30, 2015 GAO report on the Marine Corps audit <u>stated</u> that the DOD IG "did not perform sufficient procedures, under professional standards, and consequently did not obtain sufficient, appropriate audit evidence to support the audit opinion."<sup>45</sup> It remains to be seen whether the DOD-wide audit manages to avoid the catastrophic flaws that plagued the 2013 Marine Corps inspection.

It appears the DOD is still years away from passing a clean audit. Until it does, members of Congress should continue to press for more rigorous financial oversight at the Pentagon.

#### Poor Acquisition Track Record

The acquisition side of defense spending is also a mess, including several infamous procurement disasters that are emblematic of the Pentagon's systemic problems. Two of the most egregious examples of acquisition malpractice are the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter (JSF) and the Littoral Combat Ship (LCS).

The misadventures of the JSF program have been well-documented, as the program has been plagued by an abundance of persistent issues. In development for 17 years and seven years behind schedule, total acquisition costs now exceed \$406 billion, nearly double the initial estimate of \$233 billion. An April 2015 GAO report noted that the lifetime operation and maintenance costs of the most expensive weapon system in history will total approximately \$1 trillion. On April 26, 2016, Senate Armed Services Committee Chairman John McCain (R-Ariz.) called the JSF program "both a scandal and a tragedy with respect to cost, schedule, and performance."

As in each preceding year, 2018 brought more bad news. A May 2018 House Armed Services Committee (HASC) <u>report</u> revealed that the Navy's version, the F-35C, may lack sufficient range to function adequately in a future war.<sup>48</sup>

Many of the problems with the F-35 program can be traced to the decision to develop and procure the aircraft simultaneously. Whenever problems have been identified, contractors needed to go back and make changes to aircraft that were already assembled, adding to overall costs. Speaking at the Aspen Security Forum on July 24, 2015, Air Force Secretary Deborah Lee James stated,

"The biggest lesson I have learned from the F-35 is never again should we be flying an aircraft while we're building it." 49

Unbelievably, the JSF program office and members of Congress appear ready to repeat this mistake yet again. A June 5, 2018 GAO report found that major technological deficiencies still exist despite the F35 nearing the October 2019 time frame when it will enter full production. According to the GAO, in its rush to cross the finish line, the program has made some decisions that are likely to affect aircraft performance and reliability and maintainability for years to come. Those decisions include the choice to address existing flaws after full production is initiated.

Remarkably, some DOD brass do not appear overly concerned. On December 19, 2016 now-retired Lieutenant General Christopher Bogdan, who at the time headed the F-35 Program Office, <u>claimed</u>, "This program is not out of control." For this stark example of institutional bias, CAGW named Lt. Gen. Bogdan Porker of the Month for January 2017. 52

In February 2014, then-Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology, and Logistics Frank Kendall <u>referred</u> to the purchase of the F-35 as "acquisition malpractice," a description that has yet to be improved upon.<sup>53</sup>

Rather than asking pressing questions as to whether the F-35 remains worthy of further commitment, members of Congress provided earmarks for 20 additional aircraft in FY 2018. Upon completion of the development phase, additional funding will be needed to retrofit the 20 planes purchased via earmarks in FY 2018.

One crucial consequence of the delays and underperformance of the JSF program is that those aircraft it was meant to replace are aging rapidly, leaving a readiness gap. During a February 7, 2017 HASC hearing, Vice Chief of Naval Operations Admiral William Moran <u>claimed</u> that the number of grounded F/A-18s is "double where we should be." As of February 2017, 62 percent of the planes were nonoperational, and 53 percent of the Navy's total air fleet was grounded.

Beyond the litany of cost overruns and delays, doubts exist as to whether the JSF will be an improvement over existing aircraft. Members of Congress such as Sen. Martha McSally (R-Ariz.), who served 26 years in the Air Force and retired as a colonel in 2010, have <u>questioned</u> whether the F-35 will exceed the performance of the (far cheaper) A-10 in providing close air support (CAS) of troops on the ground.<sup>55</sup>

Air Force leadership appears to have seen enough of the F-35 to determine it is not up to the job of providing CAS. According to a February 2, 2018 *Defense* 

*News* <u>article</u>, the service is in the initial stages of exploring a new CAS aircraft to replace the A-10.<sup>56</sup>

Unfortunately, the JSF is not the only indication of a broken procurement system. Known to some inside the Navy as the "Little Crappy Ship," the LCS has been a disaster since its inception, with problems that include a vaguely defined mission, a lack of <u>firepower and survivability</u>, and design flaws leading to <u>cracks</u> in the hull and <u>corrosion</u>.<sup>57</sup> The number of ships the Navy intends to purchase has been cut in half, from 55 to 28, while the cost per ship has increased by 117.3 percent, from \$220 million to \$478 million.

Delays have also plagued the LCS. A June 2018 GAO <u>report</u> noted that "deliveries of almost all LCS under contract have been delayed by several months, and, in some cases, a year or longer." The average LCS Freedom variant is 16 months behind schedule, while the average Independence variant is delayed by 14 months.

The program has become so troubled that the Pentagon took active measures to undermine the bad press. According to a March 2017 GAO <u>report</u>, the DOD Office of Prepublication and Security Review, which is charged with reviewing information to be released to the public, blocked critical information regarding cost growth in the LCS program.<sup>59</sup>

A 2014 Navy evaluation of potential alternatives to the LCS rejected other ship designs and opted instead to modify the LCS slightly and redesignate it as a frigate.

A December 1, 2016 GAO <u>report</u> disagreed with the planned acquisition of the final two old-model ships in FY 2017, citing their obsolete design.<sup>60</sup> The report also criticized the Navy's request for 12 frigates in FY 2018, questioning "whether a ship that costs twice as much yet delivers less capability than planned warrants an additional investment of nearly \$14 billion."

As is so often the case with deeply flawed DOD programs, the justification for additional LCS funding can be boiled down to a desire to protect jobs. In a March 20, 2018 HASC hearing, HASC member Bradley Byrne (R-Ala.), whose district hosts the Austal USA shipyard that builds one of the two versions of the LCS, reproached Navy Secretary Richard Spencer for requesting only one LCS in FY 2019.<sup>61</sup> Rep. Byrne stated in the hearing, "Unfortunately, your acquisition plan for small surface combatants fails to provide for an enduring industrial base. In fact, it will erode the industrial base for those ships," and reducing the program to one annual ship will result in "thousands of shipyard workers" being laid off.

Parochial politics should not drive defense strategy.

The deficiencies that have plagued the DOD in recent years have been identified ad nauseum. The Pentagon's track record in addressing its financial shortcomings and procurement failures makes it evident that these will continue until members of Congress hold the DOD to a much higher standard of effectiveness and efficiency.

#### **Earmarks**

Each year since the earmark moratorium was established in 2011, lawmakers from both parties have called for the restoration of earmarks. Prominent proponents include Senate Appropriations Committee Chairman Richard Shelby (R-Ala.) and committee members Susan Collins (R-Maine), Dick Durbin (D-III.), and Patrick Leahy (D-Vt.); House appropriators Tom Cole (R-Okla.) and Mike Simpson (R-Idaho); and leaders like House Majority Leader Steny Hoyer (D-Md.) and Majority Whip James Clyburn (D-S.C.).

Although the Senate agreed to extend the moratorium in the 115th Congress, the House did not. However, then-Speaker Paul Ryan (R-Wis.) eventually killed the effort to revive earmarks late in the second session of that Congress.

When Democrats approved the rules for the 116th Congress, they did not extend the moratorium, while House Republicans agreed in their conference rules that they would abide by the moratorium. Senate Republicans are expected to agree to extend the moratorium once again, setting up what should be an interesting series of appropriations bills and possibly an infrastructure bill under which House Democrats will feel free to include earmarks, while Republicans will have to resist the siren's call of these wasteful expenditures and uphold their decision to abide by the moratorium.

Since earmarks will be coming back, it is worth revisiting why this corrupt, inequitable, and costly practice was subject to the moratorium in the first place.

The movement gained traction due to the tireless work of members of Congress such as then-Sen. Jeff Flake (R-Ariz.) and the late Sen. John McCain (R-Ariz.); high-profile boondoggles such as the Bridge to Nowhere; and a decade of scandals that resulted in jail terms for Reps. Randy "Duke" Cunningham (R-Calif.) and Bob Ney (R-Ohio) and lobbyist Jack Abramoff.

Earmarks provide the most benefit to those with spots on prime congressional committees. In the 111th Congress, when the names of members of Congress who obtained earmarks were included in the appropriations bills, the 81 House and Senate appropriators, making up 15 percent of Congress, were responsible for 51 percent of the earmarks and 61 percent of the money.

As Sen. McCain <u>explained</u> regarding those making the case for a return to earmarks, "The problem with all their arguments is: the more powerful you are, the more likely it is you get the earmark in. Therefore, it is a corrupt system." A return to rampant earmarking would increase the risk of corruption and reinstate the grossly inequitable distribution of money that has always favored a small group of legislators.

Another argument centers on the Article I tax and spending power given to

#### Earmarks (continued)

Congress. As Sen. Mike Lee (R-Utah) and Rep. Jeb Hensarling (R-Texas), coleaders of the Article I Project, <u>wrote</u> in 2017 in regard to earmarks, "Congress needs to assert its power of the purse, but not in this manner." As practiced in the past, Lee and Hensarling continued, "earmarking was not the innocuous exercise of Congress' constitutional spending power; it was the tool lobbyists and leadership used to compel members to vote for bills that their constituents — and sometimes their conscience — opposed." Bringing back earmarks, they wrote, "would make our job harder, make Congress weaker and make federal power more centralized, less accountable and more corrupt."

Those sentiments echo President James Monroe's May 4, 1822 <u>Special Message</u> to Congress regarding its authority to spend money on internal improvements in the U.S.: "It is, however, my opinion that the power should be confined to great national works only, since if it were unlimited it would be liable to abuse and might be productive of evil." 64

One of the more frequently used arguments in favor of earmarks is that they help pass legislation, which even President Trump mentioned on January 9, 2018.<sup>65</sup> But earmarks cause members to vote for excessively expensive spending bills that cost tens or hundreds of billions of dollars in exchange for a few earmarks worth a few million or sometimes just thousands of dollars.<sup>66</sup>

Unfortunately, even under the earmark moratorium, CAGW has been able to uncover hundreds of earmarks, using the definition it established in 1991 in conjunction with the bipartisan Congressional Porkbusters Coalition. Nonetheless, the moratorium at least succeeded in reducing the number of wasteful projects, and the dollars spent on them.

The cost of earmarks peaked in FY 2006, when members of Congress added 9,964 projects costing \$29 billion. In the first five years following the imposition of the earmark moratorium in FY 2012, members of Congress added an average of 130 earmarks each year costing on average \$4.4 billion, far below the levels reached annually on average prior to the ban on earmarks.

In <u>FY 2018</u>, legislators made a partial return to the bad old days, adding 232 earmarks, an increase of 42.3 percent, from the 163 in FY 2017.<sup>67</sup> The cost of earmarks in FY 2018 jumped from \$6.8 billion in FY 2017 to \$14.7 billion, an increase of 116.2 percent. This marked the first time since FYs 1992-1993 that spending on earmarks had at least doubled.

Much of the explosion of earmarks in FY 2018 can be attributed to the passage of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, which was approved on February 8, 2018. That legislation obliterated the spending caps established in the 2011 Budget Control Act (BCA) and increased spending by \$143 billion, or 13.4 percent, in

#### Earmarks (continued)

FY 2018 compared with FY 2017. With the demise of the BCA, members of Congress were free to earmark to their heart's content, and they did at a pace that was almost nine times greater than the overall increase in spending.

The one downside of the earmark moratorium has been a reduction in transparency. During FYs 2008-2010, the three years prior to the moratorium, members of Congress were required to add their names to projects they were responsible for, and list the specific location of the recipient. This information is no longer available, and earmarks are now found throughout the appropriations bills, increasing the amount of effort necessary for identification. Under the old system, earmarks were largely contained in a section at the end of the legislation. CCAGW is not suggesting that earmarks should be restored in exchange for increased transparency. But, knowing that House Democrats are planning to begin earmarking spending bills, they should adhere to strict transparency and accountability when they do so.

Since FY 1991, CAGW has identified 110,861 earmarks costing \$344.5 billion. While those figures are certain to increase with the publication of the *2019 Congressional Pig Book*, the number and cost of earmarks for FY 2019, which will appear in the *2020 Pig Book*, are highly likely to explode due to the proposed restoration of earmarks in the House.

Taxpayers should not only object to the decision by House Democrats to restore earmarks, they should demand that the 116th Congress permanently ban earmarks.

# Energy

Both the Senate and the House of Representatives will consider broad energy legislation in the 116th Congress. While energy policy should focus on freeing the energy market from government intervention, ensuring a secure supply of energy to meet the needs of a growing economy, and increasing domestic production of critical and conventional energy resources, proposals such as the "Green New Deal" would undermine those objectives.

All federal lands and waters that are not part of the national park system or congressionally designated areas should be open to exploration and production for America's growing energy needs. States should be delegated the authority to manage resource development within their borders and off their shores.

Domestic production of consumer goods and technologies, including the production of smart devices, flat-screen TVs, and the next generation of electric smart cars, is challenged by America's dependence on foreign minerals. Leading carmakers expect the demand for minerals such as cobalt and <u>lithium</u> to rise as world production of electric vehicles increases.<sup>68</sup> Manufacturers use those minerals to make ion batteries, circuits, and charging stations, among other items.

In December 2017, President Trump signed an <u>executive order</u> to end U.S. dependence on foreign minerals.<sup>69</sup> In support of that executive order, the Department of the Interior <u>published</u> in May 2018 a list of 35 mineral commodities considered critical to the country's economic and national security.<sup>70</sup> As noted elsewhere in this report, most of the land owned by the federal government is concentrated in 10 Western U.S. states. Those states also account for 75 percent of <u>domestic metal production</u>.<sup>71</sup> While America possesses a mineral reserve base estimated to be worth \$6.2 trillion,<sup>72</sup> half of these minerals are restricted or off-limits to mining, and access to the other half has been hampered by a lengthy and outdated permitting process.

Congress should also streamline and complete licensing for Yucca Mountain. Located on federal land outside Las Vegas, Yucca Mountain was designated by Congress as the sole site the Department of Energy (DOE) could study for disposal of spent fuel and other high-level nuclear waste. But Yucca Mountain has never been opened. This means the government cannot take possession of America's spent nuclear waste, so it currently sits in temporary sites across the country. Taxpayers have shelled out approximately \$7 billion, or about \$2.2 million a day, in temporary storage costs for the stockpile of spent fuel.<sup>73</sup>

Taxpayers and electricity rate payers have spent around \$39.6 billion on the Yucca Mountain site, and no scientific evidence has disqualified it as a viable option.<sup>74</sup> Congress should direct the Nuclear Regulatory Commission to complete its review of the Yucca Mountain permit application and move

### **Energy (continued)**

America's nuclear waste to its intended destination.

The existing energy market suffers from oppressive <u>energy regulations</u> as well as subsidies to both fossil fuels and green energy.<sup>75</sup> The solution to fixing the energy situation should be to repeal onerous regulations and to get rid of existing subsidies that distort the market.

However, the Trump administration is <u>advocating</u> adding new subsidies for coal and nuclear to further distort the playing field.<sup>76</sup> The DOE made the unfounded claim that closing both coal and nuclear power plants threatens national security. A <u>40-page memo</u> to the National Security Council has laid out a strategy on how to reinforce this claim.<sup>77</sup> The memo asserts that U.S. military installations are 99 percent dependent on the commercial power grid, and therefore reliability of the electric system is vitally important to national defense. It argues that the federal government must oversee the decommissioning of power plants to ensure the U.S. doesn't reach a tipping point in the loss of vital and secure energy resources. The memo lays out a plan whereby the DOE would direct the purchase of power from a designated list of facilities over the next two years "to forestall any future action toward retirement, decommissioning or deactivation." Fortunately, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission rejected this plan.<sup>78</sup>

Congress and the Trump administration should work together to open access to energy resources, expand opportunities for domestic and foreign investment, reduce regulations, and protect free and open energy markets.

#### **Entitlements**

In FY 2018, total federal outlays were \$4.152 trillion, or 20.5 percent of the gross domestic product (GDP), compared with \$3.978 trillion in 2017. Spending on mandatory programs, the formal budget designation for entitlement programs, totaled \$2.56 trillion in FY 2018, or 61.7 percent of total outlays.<sup>79</sup>

According to the January 2019 CBO report "The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2019 to 2029," the three largest entitlement programs, Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid, cost \$982 billion, \$704 billion, and \$389 billion, respectively, in FY 2018.80 The CBO stated in its 2019 report that "because of persistently large deficits, federal debt held by the public is projected to grow steadily, reaching 93 percent of GDP in 2029 (its highest level since just after World War II) and about 150 percent of GDP in 2049 — far higher than it has ever been. ... Moreover, if lawmakers amended current laws to maintain certain policies now in place, even larger increases in debt would ensue."81

The Trustees for the Social Security and Medicare trust funds <u>stated</u> the following when they released their June 2018 annual <u>reports</u>, "The 2018 Annual <u>Report</u> of Trustees of the Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance and Federal Disability Insurance Trust Funds" and the "2018 Annual <u>Report</u> of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds":

Both Social Security and Medicare face long-term financing shortfalls under currently scheduled benefits and financing. Lawmakers have a broad continuum of policy options that would close or reduce the long-term financing shortfall of both programs. The Trustees recommend that lawmakers take action sooner rather than later to address these shortfalls, so that a broader range of solutions can be considered and more time will be available to phase in changes while giving the public adequate time to prepare. Earlier action will also help elected officials minimize adverse impacts on vulnerable populations, including lower-income workers and people already dependent on program benefits.<sup>82</sup>

#### Social Security

The Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance program, or Social Security, along with the Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) program, makes monthly income payments to insured workers and their families at retirement, death, or disability. Social Security was created in 1935 and is the largest single program in the federal budget, paying monthly benefits to 68 million beneficiaries in 2018.<sup>83</sup>

According to an American Academy of Actuaries <u>report</u>, the combined Social Security trust reserves are projected to be depleted during 2034. If Congress does not implement changes by that year, only 79 percent of scheduled benefits would be payable, and that will decline to 74 percent by 2092.<sup>84</sup>

When the Social Security program was created, average <u>life expectancy</u> at birth was 58 for men and 62 for women. Standard, if a man reaches 65, he can be <u>expected to live</u>, on average, to 84; a woman, on average, will live to age 87. Improving the financial status of Social Security is critical to promoting a sustainable budget and ensuring that earned benefits will be paid. Reforms will entail making sacrifices and tough choices, no matter how politically unpopular, but changes must be made to avoid an even bigger financial crisis.

Currently, the <u>earliest</u> retirement age at which benefits can be paid is 62, but that retiree will receive only 70 to 75 percent of his or her full-retirement-age monthly benefit, depending on date of birth. The full retirement age was 65 until 1983, when Congress passed the Social Security Amendments of 1983 to gradually raise the full retirement age for people born in 1938 or later. For example, if someone was born in 1942, the full retirement age is 65 years and 10 months. If someone was born in 1953, his or her full retirement age is 66. The full retirement age for those born after 1959 is 67.87

Because medical science and technology are advancing, the average life span will continue to lengthen; thus, Social Security's normal retirement age (NRA) should continue to be raised. By making some additional changes in retirement and benefit structures, Social Security can be salvaged for current and future beneficiaries.

The Social Security Office of the Chief Actuary has <u>produced</u> a "Summary of Provisions That Would Change the Social Security Program," which includes raising the NRA to different levels over different periods of time, thus providing varying degrees of savings to extend Social Security's solvency. The most aggressive proposal would increase the NRA three months per year starting for those at age 62 in 2019, until the NRA reaches 70 in 2033. This proposal would eliminate approximately 48 percent of the long-range shortfall.<sup>88</sup>

In addition to raising the NRA, Social Security benefit increases should be tied to prices rather than wages. Under the current system, as productivity rises so do wages, thereby increasing benefit levels. Progressive price indexing would index initial benefit levels for middle-income and upper-income families to price inflation rather than wage growth, while ensuring that the relative living standard of retirees is not eroded.

#### SSDI

SSDI makes up about 17 percent of total Social Security costs, or approximately \$144 billion in 2018. Under current law, the balance of the DI fund is expected to be exhausted by 2027.89

The total number of disabled workers receiving SSDI benefits was approximately 2.7 million in 1985 and rose to approximately 9.0 million in 2014. It then declined to about 8.7 million in December 2017.<sup>90</sup>

A 2015 GAO report showed widespread fraud and poor oversight of the SSDI program. From 2005 to 2014, the Social Security Administration overpaid \$11 billion in SSDI benefits to beneficiaries who had returned to work and received earnings above program limits.<sup>91</sup>

An April 2018 GAO report found that although the Social Security Administration had taken steps to identify and properly manage risk in the SSDI program, more remains to be done. The agency "had not yet comprehensively assessed these fraud risks or developed a strategic approach to help ensure its antifraud activities effectively mitigate those risks." 92

SSDI has been cited as a "welfare" program under which able-bodied adults have been given government checks for life due to a congressional expansion of what it means to be disabled.<sup>93</sup> Because it continues to be a high-risk program, more federal oversight and substantial reforms are needed to prevent people from gaming the system and to ensure funds are available for the truly disabled.

#### Medicare

In its 2018 annual report, the Medicare Board of Trustees <u>wrote</u>, "The estimated depletion date for the HI [hospital insurance] trust fund is 2026, 3 years earlier than in last year's report. As in past years, the Trustees have determined that the fund is not adequately financed over the next 10 years."

Established in 1965 under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, Medicare provides health insurance to individuals age 65 and older. It has been expanded beyond its original purpose to include people younger than 65 who cannot work because of a medical condition that will last at least a year or result in death, have end-stage renal disease, or suffer from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Lou Gehrig's disease). In 2018, <u>59.1</u> million seniors and disabled Americans were enrolled in Medicare. The program is run by the CMS, which contracts with private entities to process claims, conduct audits, and oversee quality control.<sup>95</sup>

The GAO has designated Medicare and Medicaid as high-risk programs because "their size, scope, and complexity make them vulnerable to fraud, waste, and abuse." In 2016, CMS estimated that the FFS improper payment rate was approximately 11 percent, or \$41 billion.<sup>96</sup>

In 1967, the House Ways and Means Committee predicted that the entire Medicare program would cost taxpayers \$12 billion in 1990, but its cost that year was \$98 billion.<sup>97</sup> The CBO's January 2019 "Budget and Economic Outlook" predicted that spending for Medicare will reach \$1.52 trillion by 2029, which means higher debt and greater unfunded obligations.<sup>98</sup>

Yet, despite the dire economic outlook for Medicare, efforts are under way that would double down on the country's debt by creating a new healthcare entitlement, "Medicare for All." Sen. Bernie Sanders (I-Vt.) and several members of Congress believe this single-payer, government-run health insurance system would solve the nation's health problems and, in the end, be less expensive. But just as other countries have resorted to rationing, price fixing, and high taxation to pay for their "free healthcare," the U.S. will also follow that road should this plan be adopted.

Creating a single-payer system would mean that neither private insurance nor the current Medicare program would exist in their current forms. Those that support a single-payer plan admit that taxes would need to be raised. Sen. Sanders's <u>plan</u> states that there would be a 6.2 percent tax on employers, a 2.2 percent income tax on households, and progressively higher taxes on "the wealthy," meaning those who make \$250,000 or more a year.<sup>100</sup>

A July 2018 Mercatus <u>study</u>, "The Cost of a National Single-Payer Healthcare <u>System</u>," estimated that Medicare for All would add \$32.6 trillion over 10 years to the federal budget, and that is conditioned on doctors and other providers accepting drastically reduced payments of at least 40 percent, plus substantially decreased pharmaceutical and administration costs. The report also projected that the increase of federal commitments would be equal to 10.7 percent of the gross national product (GNP) in 2022 and 12.7 percent of GNP in 2031, and sequentially rising going forward. Even if the projected federal individual and corporate taxes were doubled, there would not be enough revenue to finance the program.<sup>101</sup>

A May 2016 Urban Institute <u>report</u> also estimated that a single-payer healthcare plan would increase federal expenditures by \$32 trillion for the same time period and that Sanders's proposed taxes would be much too low to finance the plan.<sup>102</sup>

Several states have considered adopting a single-payer healthcare system, until they saw the cost. Sen. Sanders's home state of Vermont came the closest to executing such a plan, until the estimates came in. Even though Vermont is a wealthy state with a low uninsured rate, implementing the plan would have required doubling the state's budget. The Democratic governor, who had campaigned on the idea, ditched the plan, stating it was "unwise and untenable." <sup>103</sup>

Instead of expanding Medicare to the entire country, the financially troubled program must be reformed so that it will be available for future seniors.

The dynamics making Medicare unstable are a growing elderly population, increasing costs, and an archaic payment system that encourages overuse of medical services and perpetuates mismanagement and fraud. Congress must restructure the entire program and infuse market forces into the system to lower costs and improve care.

CAGW has long supported converting Medicare FFS to a premium support system that would allow beneficiaries to choose from a variety of private health plans that would compete for their business, similar to the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program. The federal government would provide a "defined contribution" to lower a beneficiary's premium. Contributions would increase for low-income beneficiaries or those that become chronically ill.

An October 2017 CBO report, "A Premium Support System for Medicare: Updated Analysis of Illustrative Options," said such a system could save taxpayers \$419 billion between 2022 and 2026, without grandfathering — in other words, requiring all Medicare beneficiaries to move to the premium support program once it began. The savings would come about because competing private insurers would help to drive down premium costs. As a result, there would be a lower federal contribution compared with FFS costs per capita. 104

If grandfathering were allowed, enabling beneficiaries to choose to stay in the current Medicare program after the premium support program began, the CBO found that net federal spending for Medicare would drop by \$50 billion between 2022 and 2026.<sup>105</sup> However, it has been argued that as time went on many current beneficiaries would switch to the premium support model, as opposed to traditional FFS, because they would prefer more efficient, but less expensive plans that provide similar or even better service. Current Medicare Advantage beneficiaries would have no problem adapting to what would be a similar system, and others would find that a premium support model resembled the type of insurance they had while employed.<sup>106</sup>

#### Medicaid

Medicaid is the largest public health program serving low-income individuals and families. It covered just under 73 million people in 2018, which includes 6.6 million enrolled in the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). Medicaid is a jointly funded, federal—state health insurance program. When the program was created in 1965, it provided health insurance to low-income children, caretaker relatives, the elderly, the blind, and the disabled. Through the years, other individuals became eligible for Medicaid, especially when it was expanded to include able-bodied adults under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), or Obamacare.

The federal government matches every dollar spent by the states with a calculated amount dependent on per capita income, called the Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP), and a multiplier, which can vary from year to year. While the FMAP average is 50 percent, and can be no lower than that amount, some states get much more. For example, Mississippi will receive a match rate of approximately 76.4 percent for 2019.<sup>108</sup>

Not only is Medicaid expensive, it invites fraud. In 2017, the HHS OIG was able to obtain \$1.8 billion in civil and criminal recoveries. 109 It is not clear how much fraud it was unable to recover, however, according to a December 2017 GAO report. In FY 2016, CMS estimated an improper payment rate of 10.5 percent, or \$36 billion. 110

Obamacare allowed states to expand Medicaid coverage to nearly all low-income people under the age of 65, including able-bodied adults with incomes at or below 138 percent of the federal poverty level. Medicaid expansion under Obamacare also provides a much larger FMAP payment. Starting in 2014 and through 2016, the federal government covered 100 percent of Medicaid expansion dollars. In 2017, that amount dropped to 95 percent, gradually diminishing to 93 percent in 2019 and to 90 percent in 2020 and beyond.

According to the CBO, about 12 million people will have received insurance through Medicaid expansion in 2018, compared with 9 million who obtained private insurance through the Obamacare marketplaces. 111 As of this report, 37 states, including Washington, D.C., have expanded Medicaid. 112 Because of Congress's inaction on repealing and replacing Obamacare, other states are looking to expand Medicaid. For example, voters in Idaho, Maine, Nebraska, and Utah approved ballot initiatives to extend Medicaid to able-bodied adults. 113

Generally, states that expanded Medicaid under the ACA saw larger enrollment than expected in 2014. A recent example is Virginia, which expanded Medicaid in 2018 and is on track to enroll 375,000 residents, or 25 percent more than the original estimate of 300,000. At the end of 2018, the state reported a \$460

million cost overrun in Medicaid due to the start-up costs of converting to a managed-care system, which is a budget issue that it will need to address in 2019. One question that has been raised is this: if accurate estimates cannot be obtained for the regular Medicaid program, how accurate will the cost estimates be for Medicaid expansion?<sup>114</sup>

According to the Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, between 2015 and 2017, spending rates were lower than expected and this is likely due to the initial surge diminishing. However, because the federal government contribution is dropping, states will start to see their contribution grow. And as with most federal programs, this one will likely end up costing far

more than initially assumed. For example, in 1965, the House Ways and Means Committee predicted Medicaid would cost \$238 million in its first year; its cost was more than \$1 billion. In 1969, the Senate Finance Committee reported the following: "Expenditures under the Medicaid program have increased much more rapidly than anyone had anticipated. Between 1965 and 1970, total Federal, State, and local costs will have risen from \$1.3 billion to \$5.5 billion."

It has been stated that it will only be a matter of time before Congress looks to decrease the 90 percent FMAP, relying on the states to pick up the remaining cost for expanding Medicaid. In December 2018, the CBO provided this option to reduce the national debt. In fact, former President Obama offered this option as a budget pay-for, \$100 billion over 10 years, to the "Supercommittee" during deficit-reduction talks in 2011. 116

Studies have shown that Medicaid provides substandard care. Indeed, prior to Obamacare, almost one-third of physicians did not accept new Medicaid patients, with some states having even higher nonparticipation. Medicaid expansion caused a surge in emergency room use, contrary to what was promised. This means emergency rooms are crowded with non-urgent cases and that Medicaid patients are likely not getting the specialized care they may need. 118

The best way to reform and restrain Medicaid spending while introducing more innovation and oversight and providing better care to beneficiaries is by using federal block grants or per capita allotments while turning over full control of the program to the states. Enabling patients to use Medicaid funds to obtain private insurance that would compete for their business could be accomplished by adopting the <a href="Health Care Choices Proposal">Health Care Choices Proposal</a> discussed in the healthcare reform section of this report. 119

### **Federal Real Property**

Republicans and Democrats agree that the government should get rid of empty and underused buildings, yet this has not been done effectively. The two parties disagree on what types of other <u>properties</u> should be divested. <sup>120</sup> According to a 2016 <u>poll</u> from the Colorado College State of the Rockies Project, 85 percent of Democrats are against the selling of any public land for any reason. <sup>121</sup>

Uncle Sam owns more property than any other entity in the U.S. — approximately three out of every 10 acres, or more than 640 million acres. This includes <u>around 273,000 buildings</u> that it leases or owns and that cost billions of dollars annually to operate and maintain. Given the unreliability of the Federal Real Property Profile (FRPP), one cannot quantify the precise number of buildings the government owns or how they are utilized. Knowing exactly how many properties the federal government owns and leases, where they are located, and how much is being spent on rent and maintenance are the first steps toward ensuring taxpayer money is not wasted.

The government must fix the reliability of the FRPP, and once that is done it should use the information to help decrease the federal footprint and divest surplus property. The federal government has shown that it can neither manage its existing properties nor justify the amount of empty land that it owns. A 2010 CRS <u>report</u> estimated approximately 77,000 government-owned or -leased buildings were vacant or underutilized at the time the report was published. Shuttered buildings crumble due to neglect, meaning federal agencies face higher repair and clean-up costs before they can divest the properties. This makes it less likely such buildings will be repaired or sold.

Title V of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act of 1987 requires that excess federal property be offered to states, municipalities, or nonprofit groups that provide services for homeless people before such property can be sold to anyone else. 124 A February 2016 CRS report found that this requirement can add months or years to the divestment process. 125 A month after that report was published, former Rep. Jeff Denham (R-Calif.) told the Los Angeles Times that this existing requirement meant that "[a] homeless advocacy group could actually put a hold on any property that we were trying to sell. That created a disincentive for agencies actually trying to sell." A June 2015 GAO report found that only 122 of 40,000 screened federal properties had been transferred to homeless advocacy groups since the law's enactment in 1987. 127

Divesting excess property from federal ownership would deliver additional funding to the Treasury, and placing federal property in private hands would make that property taxable by state and municipal authorities. Selling excess federal real property also sells well in the <u>10 Western states</u> where most of the land owned by the government is concentrated. Nevada <u>tops</u> the list with the federal government owning 84.5 percent of that state's land. 129

# Federal Real Property (continued)

The government's current leasing practices are also problematic. A March 2014 GAO <u>report</u> reviewed case study projects from four agencies that rank in the top 10 in federal real property holdings.<sup>130</sup> The GAO found that the federal government can end up spending more money on renovation costs and lease payments over the course of a long-term lease than it would if it just paid the initial contract price and bought the building outright.

The GAO first placed federal real property management on its High-Risk List in 2003. <sup>131</sup> This issue has remained on the list ever since, and has only become more critical over time.

Due to a combination of partisan disagreement and unnecessary red tape, selling federal real estate is a long, costly process. Reforms are essential. Prioritizing the public auction of unused or underused federal real property would go a long way toward efficiently allocating a huge amount of real estate across America, and it would help reduce the \$21.9 trillion federal debt.

#### **Financial Services**

According to the White House Council of Economic Advisers, "approximately 500 new economically significant regulations" were <u>created</u> between 2010 and 2017. Under the leadership of House Financial Services Committee Chairman Jeb Hensarling (R-Texas) and Senate Banking Committee Chairman Mike Crapo (R-Idaho), the 115th Congress rolled back some of those regulations. For example, <u>S. 2155</u>, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, loosened the grip of suffocating Dodd-Frank regulations on main street banking and small business. <sup>133</sup>

#### **JOBS 3.0**

Although Congress has made progress on banking reform and regulatory relief, there is still a long way to go. One piece of legislation Congress should consider is the JOBS and Investor Confidence Act of 2018 (JOBS 3.0). During the 115th Congress, JOBS 3.0 passed the House with more than 400 votes, including that of new House Financial Services Committee Chair Maxine Waters (D-Calif.), but failed to receive a vote in the Senate.<sup>134</sup>

This bipartisan legislation would <u>spur</u> small business, venture capital, and entrepreneurship by streamlining regulatory compliance for initial public offerings and emerging growth companies, expanding the definition of "accredited investors," and providing startups with legal clarity when interacting with potential investors.<sup>135</sup> By supporting small business investment and opportunity, JOBS 3.0 is a home run that will help the U.S. compete and grow in the global economy.

#### Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

September 6, 2018, marked the ill-famed 10-year anniversary of conservatorship for government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

What was supposed to be a temporary patch to the 2008 financial crisis has transformed into a decade of inaction toward a long-term solution, abusive GSE expansion, and a constant threat of another massive taxpayer-funded bailout. Since conservatorship, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have become the primary buyers in the secondary mortgage market, financing nearly 90 percent of all U.S. mortgages, and have borrowed more than \$190 billion from taxpayers, including most recently a \$3.7 billion request on February 15, 2018. An August 7, 2018, a Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) stress test report found that the GSEs could require up to \$78 billion in new bailout money in the event of another severe global recession. Under conservatorship, taxpayers are on the hook for \$5.3 trillion in mortgage obligations from the GSEs. 137

#### Financial Services (continued)

FHFA Director Mel Watt, whose five-year term expired in January 2019, has allowed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to pursue risky private-sector strategies and an expansionary agenda, while abusing the comforts of government control. Instead of supporting the secondary mortgage marketplace, as originally intended, the GSEs have sought to compete with small lenders, flirted with ways to extend credit to riskier borrowers, and attempted to directly conduct business with consumers. This includes the GSEs' <u>purchasing</u> of no-appraisal loans and radically increasing their multifamily lending portfolios, <sup>138</sup> which the American Enterprise Institute has <u>called</u> "crony welfare and crony capitalism — where profits are privatized but the losses are taken by the taxpayer." <sup>139</sup>

Another blatant example of charter creep <u>involves</u> Freddie Mac's Integrated Mortgage Insurance and Fannie Mae's Enterprise-Paid Mortgage Insurance pilot programs, which unfairly give preference to some lenders over others who sell low-down-payment mortgages to the GSEs. <sup>140</sup> These pilot programs allow Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae to intrude into the private-sector mortgage insurance market and dictate decisions typically made by the lenders themselves.

Fannie and Freddie <u>announced</u> on August 21, 2018, that they would conclude their single-family rental pilot programs, belatedly recognizing that the private sector has had no trouble backing the purchasing of such homes without government intervention.<sup>141</sup> This is exactly the type of unnecessary dabbling that the FHFA regulator should have put a stop to before it got off the ground. Another example of wasteful spending was highlighted in a September 28, 2017, FHFA OIG report, which criticized the agency's officials for inadequate <u>supervision</u> of Fannie Mae's lavish spending on a new headquarters.<sup>142</sup>

During a September 6, 2018, House Financial Services Committee hearing, Chairman Hensarling asserted that the failure to enact GSE reform poses a growing systemic risk to both mortgage markets and taxpayers. He argued that while reform efforts have been ignored, the GSEs have slowly crept back to their "pre-crisis market dominance," which is "bad news for competition, innovation, and most of all, taxpayers." Edward DeMarco, former FHFA acting director and president of the Housing Policy Council, agreed that there is a concerning growth in "systemic reliance on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac," eerily similar to the early days of the 2008 financial crisis. 145

Although attempts to change the system have proven difficult, the Trump administration and committee members from both sides of the aisle show an appetite for reform. Secretary of the Treasury Steven Mnuchin has <u>said</u> he is determined to "fix the GSEs" and that leaving them in conservatorship indefinitely was not a constructive solution. <sup>146</sup> Mark Calabria, Vice President

#### Financial Services (continued)

Pence's chief economist and longtime proponent of GSE reform, has been nominated by President Trump to succeed Director Watt at the FHFA. While the administration should and will likely move forward with reforms of its own, Congress should continue to work toward a viable solution that both protects taxpayers and maintains a stable secondary mortgage market.

One option is to <u>reintroduce</u> the Protecting American Taxpayers and Homeowners Act, which would end taxpayer-funded bailouts of Fannie and Freddie entirely and phase out the GSEs within five years. While it has a slim chance of passing, this bill provides a viable legislative solution to create a sustainable housing finance system.<sup>147</sup>

#### Federal Housing Administration

The Federal Housing Administration (FHA) runs a more than \$1.3 trillion mortgage insurance program that was originally designed to help low- and moderate-income people buy houses if they cannot provide a 20 percent down payment. The FHA is the largest single provider of mortgage insurance and has a 100 percent guarantee of payment to lenders, should the homeowner default.

During the 1990s, the FHA controlled about 10 percent of the purchase mortgage market. Following the 2008 financial crisis, the FHA's share of purchase lending increased to nearly one-third of the market by 2010, with maximum income eligible for FHA mortgage insurance rising from \$120,000 to \$230,000. Put another way, people with about twice the income as before can get FHA insurance. As eligibility exploded, the FHA faced serious solvency problems culminating in a \$1.7 billion bailout from the Treasury at the end of 2013. CBO estimated that FHA insurance cost taxpayers \$15 billion from 2009 to 2012.<sup>149</sup>

Even after taxpayer money was thrown at the agency, the FHA was seriously undercapitalized until 2015 when the agency reached its 2 percent cash-on-hand threshold. Chairman Hensarling <u>reacted</u> by saying, "After breaking the law for seven years, it's good to see that the FHA is finally in compliance but it's sad that merely following the law is what passes for 'victory.' ... Hardworking taxpayers remain exposed to more than \$1 trillion in FHA insured mortgage credit risk, and the FHA capital reserve remains woefully inefficient." <sup>150</sup>

# Financial Services (continued)

Instead of making home buying more affordable for first-time buyers, FHA's loose lending policies are driving up house prices, particularly entry-level ones, to unsustainable levels. While the nation is still in the midst of a housing boom, an inevitable return of real house prices to their historic growth trend path will again subject the country to volatile home prices, loss of equity, and attendant loan defaults.

The FHA should return to its original mission: insure loans for people of modest means, either through income tests or limits on the size of the mortgage. The private sector and private capital are perfectly capable of taking care of everything else.

#### Healthcare

A November 7, 2018, *Washington Post* article <u>declared</u> a day after the November 2018 midterm elections:

For eight years, Republicans waged a war against Barack Obama's health-care law, holding dozens of repeal votes, filing lawsuits and branding it a dangerous government takeover.

On Wednesday, they effectively surrendered.

The day after crushing midterm election losses handed Democrats control of the House, GOP leaders signaled they had no appetite to make another go at shredding the signature accomplishment of Obama's presidency anytime soon.<sup>151</sup>

The article went on to say that Republican candidates were hit by unmerciful campaign ads, claiming they wanted to get rid of the preexisting condition protections found in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), or Obamacare. One of the causes for their losses was their inability to refute this falsehood, as well as their failure to enact a viable alternative to Obamacare. After the election, Senate Majority Leader Mitch McConnell (R-Ky.) "suggested instead that lawmakers address the flaws in the Affordable Care Act 'on a bipartisan basis.'"

It is unlikely Obamacare will ever be repealed or that Congress will adopt a single-payer, or government-run, health insurance plan, although many Democrats support the latter idea. Instead, Congress must accept that the ACA is severely broken and fix the problems.

When Obamacare was enacted, Americans had been assured that premiums would decrease on average by \$2,500 per family, per year. Instead, premiums went up on average by 105 percent on the Federal Exchange (Healthcare.gov) from 2013 to 2017.

States also had <u>substantial increases</u> in premium prices from 2017 to 2018. For example, the average premium for the benchmark plan (the second-lowest-cost silver plan, which is used to determine premium subsidies) in Wyoming went from \$413 to \$710, a 72 percent increase; and in Iowa, the average premium for the benchmark plan increased from \$310 to \$585, or 88 percent. The lowest average premium increase for the benchmark plan was in Indiana, where the premium rose from \$228 to \$286, or 26 percent. Tennessee had the dubious honor of seeing the largest increase in the premium for the benchmark plan from 2014 to 2018 as its average premium increased from \$161 to \$610, or 278 percent, over that period. 154

Over the years, insurance issuer participation <u>has declined</u>, leaving consumers with fewer choices and less competition. In 2014, 36 states used Healthcare.

### Healthcare (continued)

gov and 191 issuers participated, with an average of five issuers in each state. In 2018, 39 states were using Healthcare.gov, due to the failure of state exchanges, and there were 132 issuers nationwide, a 31 percent decline, and an average of three issuers per state. <sup>155</sup>

The Trump administration is doing what it can to encourage competition and more choices to drive down costs for consumers. For example, using the regulatory power provided to the Secretary of HHS within the ACA, the administration has used <u>Section 1332 State Innovation Waivers</u>, now called State Relief and Empowerment Waivers, to allow states to come up with inventive ideas to provide alternatives to Obamacare and meet their state's particular population needs. States can improve their insurance markets to increase competition, help lower costs, and still protect those with preexisting conditions. <sup>156</sup>

For example, Alaska's waiver enabled the state to construct a program that lowered health insurance premiums on average by <u>26.5 percent</u> from 2017 to 2018.<sup>157</sup> It is expected that for 2019 premiums will decrease by an average of <u>19.8 percent</u> and enrollment will increase by 7.1 percent in the non-group market. The state created a risk pool for 33 medical conditions, funded by a portion of the federal premium subsidy payments, which is permitted under the waiver.<sup>158</sup> Alaska's success is encouraging other states to evaluate the changes they can make to Obamacare to provide more competition and more choice and drive down costs, while still protecting those with preexisting conditions.

The administration also expanded the use of <u>short-term</u>, <u>limited-duration</u> (STLD) health insurance plans to less than 12 months, but no longer than a maximum duration of 36 months. The prior administration had limited the use of these plans to less than three months. These plans are not required to follow Obamacare's essential mandates, such as maternity care or mental health coverage. While these plans are not for everyone, they do provide more affordable options for people who cannot afford Obamacare.<sup>159</sup>

The administration also expanded the use of <u>association health plans</u> (AHPs), which will allow employees of small businesses and their families to join together and gain access to more affordable choices of health insurance, giving them many of the opportunities and insurance options as large employers.<sup>160</sup>

In October 2018, the administration announced a <u>proposed rule</u> that would expand the use of health reimbursement arrangements (HRAs). The Obama administration prevented employers from using HRAs to reimburse employees for the cost of individual insurance. The proposed rule would reverse that

mandate and would allow an employer to reimburse the cost of individual health insurance on a tax-preferred basis while not having to face large

### Healthcare (continued)

administrative burdens in offering health insurance. Essentially, it would extend the tax advantage from federal income and payroll taxes for premiums and benefits received, just like traditional employer group insurance. Employers that do provide traditional group insurance will also be able to provide up to \$1,800 per year per employee for qualified medical expenses such as standalone dental benefits and premiums for STLD plans.<sup>161</sup>

While implementing new policies for Section 1332 waivers, STLD plans, HRAs, and AHPs have been a good thing, a future president could reverse these regulations. That is why it is necessary for Congress to change Obamacare by law.

One way to fix Obamacare is to adopt the Health Care Choices Proposal, which would allow Americans to get the healthcare they want and need without the massive, centralized government interference that has driven up premium costs and reduced choice. The proposal has been steadily worked on and crafted by the Health Policy Consensus Group, a coalition of patient-centered and free-market healthcare policy professionals located in Washington, D.C., and across the country. The plan was announced in June 2018, and several senators have been working to put the proposal into legislative language. Former Sen. Rick Santorum (R-Pa.) has been at the forefront, working as a gobetween between senators and governors to make the plan a reality. 162

The plan would in essence take the federal money currently given to insurance companies to prop up Obamacare and send it to the states in the form of block grants. The states would use the grants to assist their specific population's needs and help those with low incomes get access to care from the doctors and plans they choose, while protecting those with pre-existing conditions. Initially, the grants would be based on the amount of Obamacare spending, which includes Medicaid expansion funding, tax credits, and subsidies, on a fixed date. Ultimately, the individual grants would be based on the total number of low-income residents.

For example, states could use these new resources and implement innovative ideas, like those being employed through the State Relief and Empowerment Waivers. Establishing robust risk pools for those with pre-existing conditions and reinsurance to stabilize their insurance markets, like Alaska did, would go a long way to create more competition and drive down premium costs. Enacting the Health Care Choices Proposal into law would protect these novel ideas from being undone by some future president via regulation.

Implementing Obamacare proved that top-down, Washington, D.C.-controlled healthcare is not the answer. Billions of dollars were wasted on faulty state-run exchanges; fixing and getting the Healthcare.gov website to operate properly;

### Healthcare (continued)

the collapse of the CO-OPs; and the failure to sign up sufficient "young invincibles" in the numbers needed to stabilize the marketplaces. Premiums and deductibles skyrocketed, causing many people to pay the individual mandate tax penalty instead and go uninsured.<sup>163</sup>

But problems seen with Obamacare would be miniscule compared with adopting "Medicare for All" as a replacement. The Medicare Trustees 2018 report stated that the Medicare Hospital Insurance trust fund is expected to be depleted in 2026, three years earlier than they reported in 2017. Implementing Medicare for All will not only destroy the current Medicare program, it will be financially destructive to the country and harm healthcare for all Americans. Establishing a single-payer system, like the system used by the VA, must be opposed at every turn.

The <u>VA healthcare scandal</u>, which gained notoriety after an investigation of the Phoenix VA hospital, was not unique to that facility.<sup>165</sup> Veterans tried to use VA facilities <u>across the country</u> but were subject to long waiting lists and suffered for months without care.<sup>166</sup> A March 7, 2018 OIG <u>report</u>, "Critical Deficiencies at the Washington D.C. VA Medical Center," found that even in the nation's capital, conditions were dangerous and inexcusable.<sup>167</sup> The VA system is pure single-payer and should not be replicated.

Nor should the U.S. mimic single-payer healthcare systems in Europe and Canada. Long wait times and denying patients access to the most innovative procedures are commonplace. That is what keeps their health costs lower, not better or more efficient care. In socialistic and centralized government health plans, patients are owned by the state where unelected bureaucrats decide what medical treatment one receives.

The Health Care Choices Proposal is an opportunity for Democrats and Republicans to come together, return power and funds back to the states, and enable the American people to access the kind of health insurance that fits their needs while still protecting those with pre-existing conditions.

There is a reason why people from around the world come to the U.S. for treatment. From miracle drugs that cure complicated diseases, to medical technology that helps people live productive and longer lives, to world-class physicians and surgeons that practice premier medicine, the U.S. leads the world in medical research and development. To date, an ever-encroaching big government has been kept somewhat at bay when it comes to medical care. It must be kept that way so that Americans can have even more power and control over their healthcare decisions.

# **Intellectual Property Rights**

The protection and promotion of intellectual property (IP) is the only property right included in the Constitution, found in the General Welfare Clause, Article 1, Section 8:

To promote the Progress of Science and useful Arts, by securing for limited Times to Authors and Inventors the exclusive Right to their respective Writings and Discoveries.

This clause is rooted in the notion that the best way to encourage creation and dissemination of new inventions and creative works to the benefit of both the public good and individual liberty is to recognize one's right to his or her IP. In his first presidential address on April 30, 1789, George Washington encouraged Congress to enact legislation that would further protect IP, stating, "nothing ... can better deserve your patronage than the promotion of science and literature." <sup>169</sup> The Senate responded on January 11, 1790, noting, "Literature and science are essential to the preservation of a free constitution; the measures of government should, therefore, be calculated to strengthen the confidence that is due to that important truth." On January 12, 1790, the House of Representatives issued its concurrence with the President stating, "the promotion of science and literature will contribute to the security of a free Government; in the progress of our deliberations we shall not lose sight of objects so worthy of our regard." Congress responded by passing H.R. 43, the Copyright Act of 1790, which was signed into law on May 31, 1790.

The Copyright Act of 1790 was among the first laws enacted by Congress, establishing both the U.S. Copyright Office and the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (PTO). These agencies are tasked with cataloguing, analyzing, and protecting IP rights.

Americans are likely to be more aware of the monetary value of private property than IP, since most people do not realize that nearly every product they use is the result of someone's idea, or IP. They are also not likely to know the value of IP to the economy.

According to a September 26, 2016 Economics and Statistics Administration and PTO report, IP-intensive industries support nearly 28 million jobs in the U.S.<sup>171</sup> Between 2010 and 2014, the value added by IP-intensive industries accounted for \$6.6 trillion of the GDP. Directly and indirectly, IP-intensive industries supported 45.5 million jobs, or about 30 percent of all employment in 2014.<sup>172</sup>

# **Intellectual Property Rights (continued)**

#### Promoting IP in Trade Agreements

The protection of IP should be a key consideration in all trade negotiations. Although the U.S. has a strong history of IP protection, other countries do not value IP protection as highly.

The 116th Congress will have the opportunity to review and either approve or disapprove the recently negotiated United States—Mexico—Canada Agreement (USMCA). As it evaluates this new agreement, it should ensure that U.S. IP is protected. The USMCA is noteworthy for its chapters that support a twenty-first century economy through new protections for U.S. IP and that ensure opportunities for trade in U.S. services.

In addition, the USMCA contains a new chapter covering digital trade that will provide much-needed protection for cross-border data flow, which is increasingly important as more information is stored using cloud computing services.

As other trade agreements are negotiated or renegotiated in the coming years, every nation's track record on IP must be considered to ensure that America's creativity, innovation, and technology is protected.

#### The Battle Against Counterfeits and Piracy

In 2016, the Trade Facilitation and Trade Enforcement Act was signed into law, strengthening the ability of border patrol officers to interdict and seize suspected infringing goods at the border.<sup>173</sup> According to the Department of Homeland Security, the number of IP rights seizures increased from 31,560 in FY 2016 to 34,143 in FY 2017.<sup>174</sup> Based on the estimated manufacturer's suggested retail price, had the seized goods been genuine, those seizures would have had a value of \$1,206,382,219.<sup>175</sup> A February 2017 report from the Commission on the Theft of American Intellectual Property estimated the economic loss of IP due to theft or counterfeits to be from \$225 billion to \$600 billion annually.<sup>176</sup> The report also estimated that counterfeit goods account for \$29 billion to \$41 billion annually.<sup>177</sup>

In addition to counterfeit goods, there is an ongoing threat from counterfeit and pirated content online. Piracy of digital movies, music, and software applications is not only anticompetitive but also often a harbinger of malware and other virtual attacks on unsuspecting consumers.

# **Intellectual Property Rights (continued)**

With the increased proliferation of streaming set-top boxes on the market, consumers are at greater risk of downloading malware onto their networks through pirated streaming content. The movie industry has filed several piracy lawsuits against set-top box manufacturers to reduce the availability of pirated digital goods being downloaded by unsuspecting consumers. One such suit resulted in a \$90 million settlement on October 24, 2018, paid to DISH Network by SET TV for damages stemming from allegations that SET TV was using DISH channels and retransmitting them without permission. 178

When content is widely distributed without the consent of, or compensation to, the creator, IP is being stolen. Until it is reined in, this industrial-scale theft will continue to rob the U.S. economy and consumers of jobs, investment, innovation, and creativity.

IP rights have been paramount since the Republic was established. As James Madison noted in *Federalist Paper* No. 43, referring to the authority to promote science and the arts by providing exclusive rights to authors' and inventors' writings and discoveries (which became Article 1, Section 8 of the Constitution):

The utility of this power will scarcely be questioned. The copyright of authors has been solemnly adjudged in Great Britain to be a right of common law. The right to useful inventions seems with equal reason to belong to inventors. The public good fully coincides in both cases with the claims of individuals. The States cannot separately make effectual provision for either of the cases, and most of them have anticipated the decision of this point by laws passed at the instance of Congress.<sup>179</sup>

Everyone benefits from IP. If the Founding Fathers had not recognized its importance, the light bulb, the telephone, the cell phone, and the microchip might never have been invented. Strong IP protection in both domestic policy and ongoing trade discussions is fundamental to keeping the American engine of ingenuity on track for generations to come.

# **Institutional Reforms to Congress**

Congress needs to adopt numerous important reforms across the federal government, including the way it operates. Adopting the following proposals inside Congress would help improve efficiency, eliminate duplication and overlap, and reduce wasteful spending.

Term limits for Congress would reduce the powerful advantage of incumbency, under which the longest-serving members are awarded prized committee chairmanships and leadership positions, which allows them to direct funds to projects that benefit special interests and campaign contributors. Upon leaving Congress, many former members accept positions as lobbyists and consultants, and the revolving door continues. Term limits would require a constitutional amendment and help mitigate these problems.

Other reforms to Congress as an institution could be achieved with much less effort than amending the Constitution. Congress should adopt, and enforce, rules requiring that a period of 72 hours elapse between the introduction of legislation and a vote on that legislation. It should end its bipartisan tradition of funding the government through continuing resolutions and instead abide by the budget laws that require it to pass individual appropriations bills through regular order, in committee and on the floor, that fund each part of government.

Congress must also allow more votes on amendments. Too often, massive bills are introduced at the last minute with no opportunity for rank-and-file members to offer amendments for consideration. This "take it or leave it" approach encourages members to vote for bills that include wasteful spending that they would have offered amendments to curtail or remove.

The many problems with earmarks are discussed earlier in this publication; any institutional reforms should include a permanent ban on earmarks. CAGW was instrumental in the adoption of the earmark moratorium in 2011. With the highly likely <u>restoration</u> of earmarks by House Democrats, it is now more important than ever that earmarks be banned permanently.<sup>180</sup>

Citizens also need more information about the inner workings of congressional offices, like the secret slush fund used to pay taxpayer-funded settlements on behalf of members of Congress accused of sexual and workplace misconduct. Between 1997 and 2017, 268 <u>settlements</u> were paid, totaling more than \$17 million.<sup>181</sup> The public does not know what allegations were made or the identities of any members or staff who were the subject of complaints.

# Institutional Reforms to Congress (continued)

In December 2018, Congress reached a bipartisan agreement to overhaul its methods of handling allegations of sexual misconduct. This legislation holds members and former members responsible for any settlement costs and seeks to provide a fairer process for alleged victims. Never again should taxpayers be required to pay for these settlements.

#### Labor Law and Pension Reform

One of the most egregious labor laws is the Davis-Bacon Act of 1931. It requires that federal contractors pay "the prevailing wage" to their employees on any federal project exceeding \$2,000. The act mandates that the prevailing wage on federal projects reflects the highest local union contract wages, instead of the true prevailing wage in the area as calculated independently by the Bureau of Labor Statistics. At the time of its passage, both its goal and its effect were to reward disproportionately white, unionized workers while making worse the discrimination that nonunionized African Americans faced. 182

Today, Davis-Bacon continues to keep potential new entrants out of the federal contracting market, as they are unable to comply with the law's onerous rules. This includes many small businesses led by women, people of color, and recent immigrants.

Efforts to repeal Davis-Bacon have consistently failed in Congress, requiring taxpayers to shoulder the extra cost of federal construction projects and exacerbating the cronyism, waste, and unfairness that has resulted from coziness between big government and large federal contracting businesses. Davis-Bacon adds about 20 percent to the cost of each federal project. In December 2018, the CBO <u>estimated</u> that repealing Davis-Bacon would save \$12 billion over the next decade.<sup>183</sup>

A major development in American labor law occurred in June 2018, when the Supreme Court ruled in *Janus v. AFSCME* that public-sector employees cannot be required to provide financial support to unions with which they do not want to be involved, as such payments violate the First Amendment. The decision effectively secured right-to-work for public-sector workers in all states.

Yet large labor unions and the state politicians they support have attempted to undermine the *Janus* ruling by allowing workers to opt out only during small windows of time;<sup>184</sup> collecting the personal information of all new public-sector employees;<sup>185</sup> and, worst of all, using taxpayer dollars to pay unions directly to compensate for any decline in revenue that results from the *Janus* decision.<sup>186</sup> Lawmakers across the country must abide by the *Janus* decision and protect the rights of these employees who do not wish to support a union.

The nation continues to face pension crises on several levels. States and localities suffer from <u>massive</u> unfunded pension liabilities that pose a threat to their long-term financial solvency. The main factors in this crisis are the failure of legislators to fund pension systems fully and the use of unrealistic assumed rates of return. Funds meant to support state and local pension systems are instead wasted on other projects, and the projected return on investment is made using outdated and overly rosy assumptions. As with anything that involves long-term investment, the failure to fund pensions adequately adds

# Labor Law and Pension Reform (continued)

up year after year, leading to gaping revenue shortfalls.

States and localities must reform their pension systems to ensure that benefits will be paid to future retirees. Federal lawmakers must avoid the temptation to bail them out, which would put all taxpayers on the hook for the state and local politicians' reckless behavior.

The issue of multiemployer pension reform commanded significant attention during the 115th Congress. Like many public-sector pension plans, these plans promised beneficiaries significantly more than they are able to pay. For multiemployer pension plans, that <u>figure</u> is at least \$600 billion. But the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC), which partially insures private-sector pension plans, is speeding toward insolvency.

The PBGC is not currently funded by taxpayers, but if it becomes insolvent, the pressure for a taxpayer bailout would be enormous. It is vital that multiemployer pension plans be reformed quickly and in a manner that does not cause taxpayers to bail them out.

# **Privacy**

Americans have become increasingly concerned about the amount of personal information held by banking institutions, e-commerce sites, Internet service providers, online platforms, retailers, and many others, and how such information is being used for data analytics, online advertising, and targeted messaging without adequate transparency or consumer choice. This concern was underscored after the 2016 elections when it was revealed that Cambridge Analytica used ill-gotten personal data from Facebook for targeted political ads.

The U.S. has enacted several laws that contain provisions governing how personal information should be protected using an industry-by-industry approach, including the Communications Act of 1934, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act, the Driver's Privacy Protection Act, the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, the Wire Act, and the Video Privacy Protection Act. There is no single law or federal agency for protecting consumer privacy. The most prominent agency entrusted with protecting consumer privacy is the Federal Trade Commission (FTC).

On April 14, 2016, the European Parliament adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The GDPR entered into force on May 24, 2016, and its provisions became directly applicable to all European Union (EU) member states on May 25, 2018. The GDPR <u>imposes</u> requirements for data protection by businesses or other entities that process the personal data of individuals in the member states of the EU, regardless of where the data processing takes place.<sup>189</sup> This includes U.S. companies conducting business in the EU.

On June 28, 2018, the California Consumer Privacy Act was signed into law by Gov. Jerry Brown. The bill, which was rushed through the legislature in a few days, imposes extremely onerous requirements on how companies must store and provide access to consumers' personal information, as well as harsh restrictions on the types of product and service options and discounts companies may offer to their customers. Other states have enacted or are reviewing laws that would purportedly protect personal information, covering issues such as children's online privacy, website privacy policies, and monitoring employee e-mail communications. There is an overriding concern that without the adoption of a consistent national privacy protection regime that preempts state and local laws, more states will follow California's example, further complicating the privacy regulatory environment that companies, large and small, must negotiate.

### Privacy (continued)

On November 8, 2018, CAGW <u>offered</u> the following recommendations to the National Telecommunications and Information Administration for consumer-based privacy:

- National Privacy Framework: Because of the unique nature of the internet ecosystem and its presence beyond state borders, a clear and concise national data privacy framework is necessary to provide consistency and certainty for businesses and consumers alike.
- 2. Consumer Choice and Control: Businesses should provide consumers with easy-to-understand privacy choices based on the sensitivity of their personal data and how it will be used or disclosed, consistent with the FTC's privacy enforcement guidance. Businesses should be able to continue to rely on implied consent to use customer information for activities such as service fulfillment and support, fraud prevention, market research, product development, network management and security, compliance with the law, and first-party marketing. However, businesses should also provide consumers with an opt-out choice regarding the use of their non-sensitive customer information for personalized third-party marketing.
- 3. Transparency: Consumers should be provided with clear, comprehensible, accurate, and continuously available privacy notices by businesses collecting, using, or sharing consumer data that describe in detail the information being collected, how that information will be used, and whether the information will be sold or shared with third parties. Should customer information be sold or shared with a third party, customers must be notified about the types of third parties to whom their information has been given and for what purpose.
- 4. Data Minimization and Contextuality: Consumers should expect reasonable limits on the amount of personal data that organizations collect, use, and disclose consistent with the context in which that data is provided. Every effort should be made to de-identify and delete data as promptly as possible when it is no longer necessary.
- 5. Flexibility: Different types of data require separate methods and standards of protection. For example, sensitive health care data and financial data require a higher level of security than a social media account or a computer's IP address. Therefore, policies must be consistent with the type of data being collected and how it is to be used.

## Privacy (continued)

6. Data Security and Breach Notification: Consumers should expect that the personal data they share with other entities is maintained in a secure environment. Information technology systems (IT) are under constant attack; breaches have and will continue to occur. In the event of a data breach in which there is a reasonable likelihood of misuse and consumer harm, consumers should expect timely notification of the event, and an offer by the entity breached as to the remedies available to make the consumer as whole as possible, including credit protection services, fraud alerts, and credit monitoring through credit reporting agencies.<sup>190</sup>

These six recommendations provide the groundwork for a national privacy policy going forward, in a technology- and industry-neutral manner, and should be part of the overall privacy framework discussion.

# **Regulatory Reform**

One of President Donald Trump's most significant successes during his first two years in office has been the whirlwind pace at which his administration has slashed federal regulations. The deregulatory agenda is even more impressive considering where the federal bureaucracy stood before President Trump took office.

The Competitive Enterprise Institute estimated in 2017 that federal regulations cost Americans nearly \$2 trillion each year. <sup>191</sup> The Obama administration added more than 20,000 new regulations during his two terms in the White House, <sup>192</sup> including 600 major regulations with an economic impact of more than \$100 million. <sup>193</sup> The Obama administration averaged 29 new regulations for every new law passed by Congress. <sup>194</sup>

To chop the Obama regulatory behemoth down to size, President Trump <u>signed</u> an executive order on January 30, 2017, mandating that federal agencies eliminate two regulations before a new one is created.<sup>195</sup> As a result, federal regulations were <u>slashed</u> at a 22-to-1 rate in 2017,<sup>196</sup> and the *Federal Register* had its lowest word count since 1993.<sup>197</sup>

After his second year, President Trump has issued the <u>fewest</u> number of regulations since the mid-1970s.<sup>198</sup> In 2018 alone, the White House estimated <u>\$23 billion</u> in regulatory savings<sup>199</sup> and the ratio of new regulations to new laws passed by Congress stood at a <u>15-year low</u> of 12 to 1.<sup>200</sup> Although much progress has been made in cutting federal rules and regulations, the number of Trump-era regulations ticked up in 2018 slightly more than its record-breaking first year low, and <u>several agencies</u> are still slow-walking major regulatory reforms to older, more entrenched rules.<sup>201</sup>

Congress used the Congressional Review Act (CRA) to great effect in the first half of 2017 to <u>upend</u> 14 of 15 Obama-era "<u>midnight regulations</u><sup>202</sup>" signed toward the end of the former President's term.<sup>203</sup> But under the CRA, a congressional resolution to overturn a regulation must be passed within 60 legislative days of the regulation's final approval.

Congress could take additional steps to reduce overregulation. The most expansive option available would be to enact the Regulations From the Executive in Need of Scrutiny (REINS) Act. The REINS Act would require Congress to approve every major rule proposed by the executive branch before it can be imposed on the American people. Once a major rule is drafted, it must be approved by both the House and Senate and signed by the President before it could be enacted. Agencies would be required to classify rules as either major or non-major and justify their classification.

# Regulatory Reform (continued)

The REINS Act process would proactively help safeguard taxpayers from unnecessary and onerous regulations and ensure that federal agencies do not overstep their bounds, instead of waiting until after regulations have been promulgated and seeking to overturn them in accordance with the CRA or challenge them in court. The House passed the REINS Act on January 5, 2017, but the Senate did not follow suit.

Other legislative avenues include the Regulatory Accountability Act, which would reform the process by which federal agencies analyze and formulate new regulations and guidance documents, clarify the nature of judicial review of agency legal interpretations, and ensure a complete analysis of the potential impact of rules on small entities. The House passed that bill on January 11, 2017, but the Senate failed to do the same.

In 2019, signs point to potential <u>slowdowns</u> on the deregulatory highway.<sup>204</sup> The rate of deregulation already slowed to a 12-to-1 ratio in 2018, primarily because agencies have exhausted the easiest cuts and will now be forced to tackle larger, more complicated regulations. This process will take more time and legal justification, thereby slowing down the total pace of cuts. The Democratic majority in the House could also use its new oversight authority to question and put pressure on agencies that choose to make substantial cuts, as well as pass resolutions under the CRA to overturn Trump administration regulations.

With these potential headwinds on the horizon, lawmakers must remember that relieving taxpayers and small businesses of unnecessary and excessive regulatory burdens is crucially important for the long-term health and strength of America's economy. Congress is not powerless to bring the regulatory state to heel. On the contrary, it has several legislative options that would help restore oversight and accountability to the nation's rulemaking process.

# **Technology Modernization**

The federal government spent more than \$94 billion in FY 2017 and according to GAO was expected to spend approximately \$96 billion in FY 2018 on IT, including hardware, software, programming, and development. According to a May 23, 2018 GAO report, while much has been done to address approximately 800 IT management—related and 2,700 security-related recommendations, much work remains to be done to modernize and streamline federal IT systems.<sup>205</sup>

In 51 federal agencies, the IT systems are so old that in FY 2015 more than 90 percent of IT expenditures supported operations and maintenance. Ancient taxpayer-supported legacy systems include two 56-year-old Department of the Treasury Master File systems; a 51-year-old VA system used to track veterans' benefits; and a 53-year-old DOD system used to coordinate the operation function of the nuclear forces, which runs on an IBM Series/1 computer and uses 8-inch floppy disks for storage.

Some of the older systems are written in assembly language code, which is difficult to write and maintain, and still operate on an IBM mainframe. Antiquated systems at the Department of Justice and the Social Security Administration still use COBOL, a programming language developed in the 1950s and '60s, which is fast becoming obsolete in the business world. Programmers for both assembly language code and COBOL are becoming increasingly scarce.

Migrating federal IT systems to newer, more agile systems is critical to the continued operation of government. On December 26, 2013, the Federal Information Technology Acquisition Reform Act (FITARA) was signed into law as part of the National Defense Authorization Act for 2015 (P.L. 113-66). This was followed on July 29, 2016, by the Making Electronic Government Accountable By Yielding Tangible Efficiencies Act of 2016 (MEGABYTE Act) (P.L. 114-210). On December 12, 2017, the Modernizing Government Technology Act (MGT Act) was enacted as part of the FY 2018 National Defense Authorization Act.

These laws provide the tools necessary to streamline federal IT purchases; increase data center consolidation; provide additional incentives to move toward cloud services; give agencies a centralized budgeting authority for IT acquisitions managed by a chief information officer; ensure that software assets are inventoried to avoid costly duplication of software and equipment; and, help provide federal agencies with access to funding to modernize outdated IT equipment.

The IT systems used by federal agencies are too important to remain outdated. Savings achieved through implementation of FITARA and the MEGABYTE Act should be used to modernize and strengthen IT systems. The resources

# **Technology Modernization (continued)**

made available through the MGT Act must also be managed appropriately to ensure that taxpayers receive the best value for their dollar. In addition, federal agencies should be mindful of avoiding duplication and mismanagement of IT services and infrastructure while implementing new and innovative methods of deploying IT across their departments, including the use of agile software development, cross-agency collaborations, and leveraging private-sector practices to reduce costs while streamlining services.

Another option available to agency chief information officers is to use functions and program solutions already proven successful in other agencies, rather than creating an entirely new process or technology to perform the same task. A prime example of this is the VA's financial software system. The VA tried and failed twice to <u>develop</u> its own financial software system. On October 5, 2016, the department announced it would be utilizing the financial management IT shared services developed by the Department of Agriculture to <u>replace</u> its existing financial management system. As the federal government increases the use of cloud technology solutions, it can employ similar IT-sharing initiatives rather than wasting taxpayer dollars duplicating systems that already exist in other agencies.

While passage of these laws is useful in modernizing federal IT systems, it is critical for Congress to conduct stringent oversight over agency implementation of these initiatives. On December 13, 2018, the DOD OIG released the results of an audit focused on how the DOD components identified and eliminated any duplicative or obsolete software applications. <sup>209</sup> The DOD IG found that the Marine Corps, the Navy, and the Air Force commands were not consistently rationalizing their software applications, and concluded that, "As a result, the DoD and its Components are exposing the DoD Information Network to unnecessary cybersecurity risks because they lack visibility over software application inventories and, therefore, are unable to identify the extent of existing vulnerabilities associated with their own software applications. In addition, the DoD is not realizing the cost savings associated with the elimination of duplicate and obsolete software applications that it has already procured and is paying to maintain."

Congress must also conduct stringent oversight over federal IT procurement to ensure that the 11 agencies that are authorized to use other transaction agreements do not abuse that process, and that federal IT contracts are not written in a manner that predetermines the awardee before proposals are even submitted. In addition, sole-source contracting should not be overused.

For example, when the DOD issued its request for proposals for its Joint Enterprise Defense Infrastructure (JEDI) cloud computing contract, it was clear that the agency intended this to be a sole-source contract that would allow

## **Technology Modernization (continued)**

one company to manage all the cloud computing services for the DOD. The JEDI contract is expected to be a 10-year, \$10 billion project for the winning bidder. However, when one company provides the single solution for every agency and department within the DOD, it places national security at risk.

Air Force Deputy Chief of Staff for Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance Lt. Gen. VeraLinn "Dash" Jamieson <u>questioned</u> the use of one cloud provider, since "multi-cloud" will give the enemy "a targeting problem." Congress must continue to scrutinize and monitor the award and implementation of this major IT project.

To avoid the wasteful and costly fate of past efforts to modernize IT throughout the federal government, agencies must administer contracts in a fair, open, and truly competitive manner. Finally, Congress should direct annual IT funding appropriations to modernization projects that will enhance and improve the taxpayer's experience, while providing much-needed, effective security against cyber threats. Following up with appropriate oversight will ensure that the budgets are being properly managed and allocated for the best possible solutions.

### **Telecommunications Reform**

The Federal Communications Commission (FCC) was established by the Communications Act of 1934. The act has been amended through the Cable Act of 1992, the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the Satellite Television and Localism Act Reauthorization (STELAR) Act of 2014, and the RAY BAUM's Act of 2018. However, Congress needs to do more to clarify and update existing telecommunications law to make it more applicable to current and future technology innovations.

During the 113th Congress, the House Energy and Commerce Committee began an effort to modernize telecommunications law, engaging stakeholders through a series of white papers and meetings to discuss the parameters for change. Topics included competition policies; interconnection; internet regulations; Universal Service Fund (USF) reforms; and, video transmission issues. However, this effort was for the most part set aside, and a greater focus was placed on spectrum management and FCC process reform during the 114th and 115th Congresses. The House of Representatives should revisit modernizing the Communications Act of 1934, using the information collected in the 113th Congress, to more appropriately address today's communications ecosystem.

The telecommunications industry is providing services far beyond the scope envisioned by the Communications Act of 1934 and the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and companies are continuing to expand their offerings to include, for example, 10-gigabit networks that will provide symmetrical speeds, lower latencies, enhanced reliability, higher computing capabilities, and improved security. Cable companies provide more than television services, including voice over IP and internet services; telephone companies have ventured into providing broadband and television services; and mobile communications companies are also providing mobile broadband solutions.

A starting point for Congress will be the reauthorization of the STELAR Act. This law expires on December 31, 2019, and without reauthorization nearly 870,000 viewers, mostly in rural America, who rely on satellite television for local and national broadcast news will lose service.

In the 115th Congress, Rep. Steve Scalise (R-La.) introduced H.R. 6465, the Next Generation Television Marketplace Act, which would repeal provisions in the Communications Act that mandate the carriage and purchase of broadcast signals by cable operators, satellite providers, and their customers; allow broadcast affiliates to sell programming they license without hindrance and overregulation from the government; promote competition by eliminating the government's role in defining the scope of programming exclusivity; and codify the repeal of certain limitations imposed on local broadcasters that prevent them from adapting to today's dynamic communications marketplace. STELAR

### Telecommunications Reform (continued)

reauthorization provides a platform for Congress to use the satellite industry as an incubator for these ideas to further refine and develop them before applying them to the larger video industry.

With respect to federally subsidized communications programs, Congress should exercise greater oversight on the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) broadband grant and loan program, and the USF's Lifeline program.

CCAGW has called for the elimination of the RUS, which would save taxpayers \$8.2 billion in one year, and \$41 billion over five years. However, Congress clearly has no intention of eliminating this program, and instead expanded the RUS broadband program in the 2018 Farm Bill by \$350 million annually supposedly to help rural unserved communities bridge the digital divide. It is imperative that Congress provide stringent oversight of the program to ensure that the funding is used to build in prioritized unserved communities and not upgrade or overbuild existing broadband infrastructure.

The Lifeline program serves a vital role in enabling those in need a means with which to communicate. However, since 2010, GAO has issued several reports outlining issues of waste, fraud, and abuse within the Lifeline program, including multiple beneficiaries from a single household, and other recipients advertising the sale of Lifeline-subsidized phones and services on Craigslist. The FCC is in the process of developing a National Lifeline Accountability Database verification system to reduce the incidence of ineligible recipients. Congress should conduct stringent oversight on the development and implementation of the national verification system for the Lifeline program to ensure that only those who are truly in need of the program are accessing the services offered.

Other areas that the 116th Congress should address include reducing the wireless tax burden for consumers using mobile services, creating a standard method for taxation of digital goods, and, ensuring that free market competition be allowed to flourish without additional regulatory burdens.

#### U.S. Postal Service Reform

"While the organization is fundamentally strong in terms of the value we deliver and the role we play in America's economy and community, we are not financially strong," said the Postmaster General Meghan Brennan when presenting the United States Postal Service's (USPS) annual financial statement on November 14, 2018.

However, GAO, among other oversight bodies, has delivered a starker analysis. "USPS faces unsustainable financial challenges," a June 28, 2018, GAO report declared. A similar verdict was rendered in a September 2011 GAO report, which stated, "The stark reality is that USPS's business model is broken."

In FY 2018, the USPS <u>lost \$3.9 billion</u>, an increase of \$1.2 billion, or 44 percent greater than the \$2.7 billion loss in 2017.<sup>211</sup> This marks the agency's 12th consecutive year of losses, which now <u>total</u> \$69 billion since 2007.<sup>212</sup>

Those staggering numbers do not tell the entire story. According to the <u>USPS</u>, "operating expenses for the year were \$74.4 billion, an increase of \$2.2 billion, or 3.1 percent, compared to the prior year. This was driven by an increase in compensation and benefits of \$896 million due to contractual wage increases and increased transportation expenses of \$623 million primarily due to higher package volume, increases in fuel prices and higher highway contract rates."<sup>213</sup> Furthermore, "Expenses for workers compensation and retiree health benefits increased by \$801 million and \$221 million."

The agency faces \$121 billion in additional unfunded liabilities for pensions and retiree health benefits and has reached its statutory borrowing limit of \$15 billion. The GAO placed the USPS on its <u>High Risk List</u> in 2017, an indication of its dire fiscal situation.<sup>214</sup>

According to a March 5, 2018, USPS OIG report, "Total First-Class Mail volume has declined significantly from its peak volume in 2001."<sup>215</sup> This decline is the result of the ongoing migration of communications and transactions to overnight services and the internet. The report concludes, "Recent trends suggest that the Postal Service cannot expect First-Class Mail to maintain its leadership role among postal products."

The USPS has been granted a monopoly on delivery of most letter mail, and must deliver to each address in the country, under its statutory universal service obligation (USO). The USO does not specify six-day delivery, yet Congress has stymied postal management's attempts to reduce delivery to five days a week, a move that both the Postal Regulatory Commission and USPS officials <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/journal.org/">https://doi.org/10.1007/journal.org/</a> and USPS officials <a href="https://doi.org//>have estimated">have estimated could save the agency \$2.2 billion annually.<sup>216</sup></a>

### U.S. Postal Service Reform (continued)

The agency operates 35,000 brick-and-mortar retail and processing facilities. Here, too, Congress has meddled when USPS management has attempted to close or consolidate underperforming facilities to improve operations and save money.

On April 12, 2018, President Trump signed an executive order creating a task force to issue a report addressing the future of the USPS.<sup>217</sup> The report, "The United States Postal Service: A Sustainable Path Forward," was released on December 4, 2018, and contained 25 recommendations, including redefining the USO to provide greater flexibility in delivery and pricing of delivery services.<sup>218</sup> The report advises capping prices for mail and packages deemed essential services, while developing a market-based pricing model for commercial packages. It recognizes the salutary impact of negotiated service agreements and third-party partnerships, and urges postal management to enter into more partnerships with the private sector to realize more efficiencies. The report also points to the USPS's mailbox monopoly, suggesting that it could be monetized.

Future reforms included in the report are to grant appropriate flexibility to downsize and reconfigure its workforce; modernize its sclerotic, inefficient internal operations and work rules; and outsource more of its operations to cost-efficient private contractors. In addition, the agency's finances must be made far more transparent to ensure that it adheres to the statutory prohibition against using funds from its monopoly operations to start new businesses.

The task force report's findings are notable not only for its suggestions of what should be done to shore up the teetering USPS, but also for its remarks on what should not be done. For example, the report throws cold water on the concept of allowing the USPS to enter into the field of financial services, an idea that continues to be pushed by people like Sens. Kirsten Gillibrand (D-N.Y.), Bernie Sanders (I-Vt.), and Elizabeth Warren (D-Mass.). The financial services sector of the economy is highly competitive and nimble, giving customers many options, and the USPS has no expertise in this area.

Several postal reform bills have been introduced and considered in the House and Senate committees of jurisdiction over the past several years. None of these efforts have come to fruition, yet time is growing short.

Enacting meaningful market-oriented, long-term structural reform for the USPS is going to require sustained actions by current executives and regulators, including the USPS Board of Governors and the Postal Regulatory Commission, and of course, Congress. All of these matters must be addressed during the 116th Congress, before the agency's finances reach the catastrophic stage, when a taxpayer bailout is much more likely.

- Congressional Budget Office, "The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2019 to 2029," January 2019, p. 7, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf">https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf</a>.
- "What is FOIA," United States Department of Justice, <a href="https://www.foia.gov/about.html">https://www.foia.gov/about.html</a>.
- 3. C.J. Ciaramella, "'The Most Transparent Administration in History': A campaign promise becomes a punchline," *Reason*, January 18, 2017, <a href="http://reason.com/archives/2017/01/18/the-most-transparent-administr/">http://reason.com/archives/2017/01/18/the-most-transparent-administr/</a>.
- Ted Bridis, "US sets new record for denying, censoring FOIA requests," Federal News Network, March 18, 2015, https://federalnewsnetwork.com/management/2015/03/us-sets-new-record-for-denying-censoring-foia-requests/.
- Jory Heckman, "Despite hiring freeze, agencies made progress in FOIA backlog in FY 17," Federal News Network, June 8, 2018, https://federalnewsnetwork. com/agency-oversight/2018/06/despite-hiring-freeze-agencies-processedrecord-number-of-foia-requests-in-fy-17/.
- Ted Bridis, "US sets new record for censoring, withholding gov't files," *AP News*, March 12, 2018, <a href="https://apnews.com/714791d91d7944e49a284a51fab65b85">https://apnews.com/714791d91d7944e49a284a51fab65b85</a>.
- 7. Ibid.
- John Hudak and Grace Wallack, "Sometimes cutting budgets raise deficits: The curious case of inspectors' general return on investment," Center for Effective Public Management at Brookings, April 2015, <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/CEPMHudakWallackOIG.pdf">https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/CEPMHudakWallackOIG.pdf</a>.
- Gene L. Dodaro, "Fiscal Year 2019 Budget Request," Government Accountability Office, April 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/691494.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/691494.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "About GAO," <a href="https://www.gao.gov/about/">https://www.gao.gov/about/</a>.
- 11. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Recovery Auditing in Medicare Fee-For-Service for Fiscal Year 2016," <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Monitoring-Programs/Medicare-FFS-Compliance-Programs/Recovery-Audit-Program/Downloads/FY-2016-Medicare-FFS-Report-Congress.pdf.">https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Monitoring-Programs/Medicare-FFS-Compliance-Programs/Recovery-Audit-Program/Downloads/FY-2016-Medicare-FFS-Report-Congress.pdf.</a>
- Council for Medicare Integrity, "A History of the RAC Program," February 2015, <a href="http://medicareintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/RAC\_Timeline\_v4.pdf">http://medicareintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/RAC\_Timeline\_v4.pdf</a>.

- Council for Medicare Integrity, "Data & Reports: Medicare Loses Billions Each Year to Improper Payments to Providers," December 2018, <a href="http://medicareintegrity.org/data-and-reports/">http://medicareintegrity.org/data-and-reports/</a>.
- Board of Trustees, Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds, "2018 Annual Report of the Board of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds," June 5, 2018, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf">https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf</a>.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Prepayment Review Demonstration," December 13, 2013, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Monitoring-Programs/Medicare-FFS-Compliance-Programs/Recovery-Audit-Program/Recovery-
- Council for Medicare Integrity, "Medicare RAC Prepayment Audits Can Stop Improper Payments," February 2015, <a href="http://medicareintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Prepayment-Demonstration\_v2.pdf">http://medicareintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Prepayment-Demonstration\_v2.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Medicare: Claim Review Programs Could Be Improved with Additional Prepayment Reviews and Better Data," GAO-16-394, April 13, 2016, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/676526.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/676526.pdf</a>.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Speech: Medicare Remarks by CMS Administrator Seema Verma at the Commonwealth Club of California," July 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/speech-medicare-remarks-cms-administrator-seema-verma-commonwealth-club-california">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/speech-medicare-remarks-cms-administrator-seema-verma-commonwealth-club-california</a>.
- James V. Saturno, Bill Heniff Jr., and Megan S. Lynch, "The Congressional Appropriations Process: An Introduction," Congressional Research Service, November 30, 2016, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42388.pdf.
- Jessica Tollestrup, "Automatic Continuing Resolutions: Background and Overview of Recent Proposals," Congressional Research Service, August 20, 2015, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R41948.pdf.
- Michael Collins, "Tax Cuts, Spending Help Push National Debt to Historic High, New Report Says," USA Today, March 2, 2018, https://www.usatoday.com/ story/news/politics/2018/03/02/exclusive-tax-cuts-spending-helping-pushnational-debt-levels-not-seen-since-world-war-ii-new-report/386937002/.
- Congressional Budget Office, "The Budget and Economic Outlook, 2019 to 2029," January 2019, p. 7, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf">https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf</a>.

- Julie Jennings and Jared C. Nagel, "Federal Workforce Statistics Sources: OPM and OMB," Congressional Research Service, January 12, 2018, <a href="https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43590.pdf">https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43590.pdf</a>.
- Office of Personnel Management, "Official Time Usage in the Federal Government: Fiscal Year 2016," May 2018, <a href="https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/labor-management-relations/reports-on-official-time/reports/2016-official-time-usage-in-the-federal-government.pdf">https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/labor-management-relations/reports-on-official-time/reports/2016-official-time-usage-in-the-federal-government.pdf</a>.
- Erich Wagner, "OPM Reports 4 Percent Increase in Use of Official Time Over Two Years," Government Executive, May 17, 2018, <a href="https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/05/opm-reports-4-percent-increase-use-official-time/148294/">https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/05/opm-reports-4-percent-increase-use-official-time/148294/</a>.
- Trey Kovacs, "Federal Employees Spend Over 3 Million Hours on Union Business," Competitive Enterprise Institute, May 17, 2018, <a href="https://cei.org/blog/federal-employees-spend-over-3-million-hours-union-business">https://cei.org/blog/federal-employees-spend-over-3-million-hours-union-business</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Actions Needed to Improve Tracking and Reporting of the Use and Cost of Official Time," Report to Congressional Requesters, October 2014, https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/666619.pdf.
- The White House, "Executive Order Ensuring Transparency, Accountability, and Efficiency in Taxpayer Funded Union Time Use," May 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-ensuring-transparency-accountability-efficiency-taxpayer-funded-union-time-use/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-ensuring-transparency-accountability-efficiency-taxpayer-funded-union-time-use/</a>.
- The White House, "Executive Order Promoting Accountability and Streamlining Removal Procedures Consistent with Merit System Principles," May 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-promoting-accountability-streamlining-removal-procedures-consistent-merit-system-principles/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-promoting-accountability-streamlining-removal-procedures-consistent-merit-system-principles/</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Improved Supervision and Better Use of Probationary Periods Are Needed to Address Substandard Employee Performance," Report to the Chairman, Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, U.S. Senate, February 2015, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/668339.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/668339.pdf</a>.
- Erich Wagner, "Judge Strikes Down Trump Executive Orders Limiting Federal Employee Union Bargaining," *Government Executive*, August 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/08/judge-strikes-down-trump-executive-orders-limiting-federal-employee-union-bargaining/150813/">https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/08/judge-strikes-down-trump-executive-orders-limiting-federal-employee-union-bargaining/150813/</a>.

- <sup>32.</sup> Erich Wagner, "Court Denies Trump Administration Request to Expedite Appeal of Workforce EO Decision," *Government Executive*, October 19, 2018, <a href="https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/10/court-denies-trump-administration-request-expedite-appeal-workforce-eo-decision/152173/">https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/10/court-denies-trump-administration-request-expedite-appeal-workforce-eo-decision/152173/</a>.
- <sup>33.</sup> Eric Katz, "White House Replaces Federal Personnel Director in Surprise Shakeup," *Government Executive*, October 5, 2018, <a href="https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/10/white-house-replaces-federal-personnel-director-surprise-shakeup/151838/">https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/10/white-house-replaces-federal-personnel-director-surprise-shakeup/151838/</a>.
- <sup>34.</sup> Curtis Kalin, "VA Scandal Rages On in 2016," Citizens Against Government Waste, August 18, 2016, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/va-scandal-rages-2016">https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/va-scandal-rages-2016</a>.
- "S.1094 Department of Veterans Affairs Accountability and Whistleblower Protection Act of 2017," Congress.gov, June 23, 2017, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1094">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1094</a>.
- "H.R.1658 Federal Employee Accountability Act of 2015," Congress.gov, March 26, 2015, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/house-bill/1658/text?r=386">https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/house-bill/1658/text?r=386</a>.
- "H.R.559 MERIT Act of 2017," Congress.gov, July 17, 2018, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/559">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/559</a>.
- "S.3200 MERIT Act of 2018," Congress.gov, July 12, 2018, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3200">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3200</a>.
- Jeff Stein, "U.S. military budget inches closer to \$1 trillion mark, concerns over federal deficit grow," The Washington Post, June 18, 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2018/06/19/u-s-military-budget-inches-closer-to-1-trillion-mark-as-concerns-over-federal-deficit-grow/?utm\_term=.d9701c680662.</a>
- 40. Idrees Ali and Mike Stone, "Pentagon fails its first-ever audit, official says," Reuters, November 15, 2018, <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-pentagon-audit/pentagon-fails-its-first-ever-audit-official-says-idUSKCN1NK2MC?fbclid=lwAR1qfSDx\_O6JTkGFclgSzEnWmRo2MrC3fSzbTAZXwN9J1MJqjhdMnNleukE.</a>
- 41. Aaron Gregg, "First full Pentagon financial audit details bureaucratic noncompliance but no fraud," *The Washington Post*, November 21, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2018/11/21/first-full-pentagon-financial-audit-details-bureaucratic-noncompliance-no-fraud/?utm term=.21bf40f214cd.

- Ryan Brown and Barbara Starr, "Pentagon spends \$500 million to fix problems found in audit," CNN, November 16, 2018, <a href="https://www.cnn.com/2018/11/16/politics/pentagon-audit-500-million/index.html">https://www.cnn.com/2018/11/16/politics/pentagon-audit-500-million/index.html</a>.
- Department of Defense Office of Inspector General, "Army General Fund Adjustments Not Adequately Documented or Supported," July 26, 2016, <a href="https://www.dodig.mil/reports.html/Article/1119298/army-general-fund-adjustments-not-adequately-documented-or-supported/">https://www.dodig.mil/reports.html/Article/1119298/army-general-fund-adjustments-not-adequately-documented-or-supported/</a>.
- David Alexander, "Hagel praises U.S. Marines' progress on readying accounts for audit," Reuters, February 6, 2014, <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-defense-audits-idUSBREA1601X20140207">https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-defense-audits-idUSBREA1601X20140207</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "DOD Financial Management: Actions Are Needed on Audit Issues Related to the Marine Corps' 2012 Schedule of Budgetary Activity," August 3, 2015, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-15-198">https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-15-198</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "F-35 Joint Strike Fighter: Observations on Program Progress," Statement of Michael J. Sullivan, Director of Acquisition and Sourcing Management, Testimony before the Subcommittee on Tactical Air and Land Forces, Committee on Armed Services, House of Representatives, April 14, 2015, https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/669605.pdf.
- Ryan Browne, "John McCain: F-35 is 'a scandal and a tragedy,' " CNN, April 27, 2016, https://www.cnn.com/2016/04/26/politics/f-35-delay-air-force/.
- John M. Donnelly, "Navy's Top-Dollar Stealth Fighter May Not Go the Distance," Roll Call, May 21, 2018, https://www.rollcall.com/news/policy/f-35c-navy-stealth-range?bt\_alias=eyJ1c2VySWQiOiAiZ-jUwNDAwNTUtNmU2ZC00ZDQ4LWJINDctM2EwMWM00DMzMG-M0In0%3D&utm\_campaign=newsletters&utm\_source=rollcallafternoon&utm\_content=051818&utm\_medium=email.
- Asichard Sisk, "Air Force Secretary Acknowledges Wide Range of Problems with F-35," Military.com, July 28, 2015, <a href="https://www.military.com/daily-news/2015/07/28/air-force-secretary-acknowledges-wide-range-problems-f35">https://www.military.com/daily-news/2015/07/28/air-force-secretary-acknowledges-wide-range-problems-f35</a>. <a href="https://ht
- 50. Government Accountability Office, "F-35 Joint Strike Fighter: Development Is Nearly Complete, but Deficiencies Found in Testing Need to Be Resolved," Report to Congressional Committees, June 2018, https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/692307.pdf.
- Amanda Macias, "F-35 chief: 'This program is not out of control,'" *Business Insider*, December 20, 2016, <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/bogdan-f35-program-not-out-of-control-2016-12">https://www.businessinsider.com/bogdan-f35-program-not-out-of-control-2016-12</a>.

- Citizens Against Government Waste, "CAGW Names Lt. Gen. Chris Bogdan January 2017 Porker of the Month," <a href="https://www.cagw.org/porker-of-the-month/cagw-names-lt-gen-chris-bogdan-january-2017-porker-month">https://www.cagw.org/porker-of-the-month/cagw-names-lt-gen-chris-bogdan-january-2017-porker-month</a>.
- Andrea Drusch, "Fighter plane cost overruns detailed," *Politico*, February 16, 2014, <a href="https://www.politico.com/story/2014/02/f-35-fighter-plane-costs-103579">https://www.politico.com/story/2014/02/f-35-fighter-plane-costs-103579</a>.
- Zachary Cohen, "Two-thirds of Navy strike fighter jets can't fly," CNN, February 10, 2017, <a href="http://www.cnn.com/2017/02/10/politics/us-navy-planes-grounded/index.html">http://www.cnn.com/2017/02/10/politics/us-navy-planes-grounded/index.html</a>.
- Travis J. Tritten, "First Versions of F-35s Won't Outdo A-10 in Battlefield Capabilities," *Military.com*, April 15, 2015, <a href="https://www.military.com/daily-news/2015/04/15/first-version-of-f35s-wont-outdo-a10-in-battlefield-capabilities.html">https://www.military.com/daily-news/2015/04/15/first-version-of-f35s-wont-outdo-a10-in-battlefield-capabilities.html</a>.
- Valerie Insinna, "US Air Force kills combat demo for light attack aircraft," Defense News, February 2, 2018, <a href="https://www.defensenews.com/air/2018/02/02/us-air-force-kills-combat-demo-for-light-attack-aircraft/">https://www.defensenews.com/air/2018/02/02/us-air-force-kills-combat-demo-for-light-attack-aircraft/</a>.
- 57. David Lerman, "Ships Costing U.S. \$37 Billion Lack Firepower, Navy
  Told," Bloomberg, March 28, 2013, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/
  articles/2013-03-28/ships-costing-u-s-37-billion-lack-firepower-navytold; Hope Hodge Seck, "LCS Montgomery Sustains Second Hull Crack in a
  Month," Military.com, November 3, 2016, https://www.military.com/dailynews/2016/11/03/lcs-montgomery-sustains-second-hull-crack-month.html;
  David Axe, "Builder blames navy as brand-new warship disintegrates," Wired,
  June 23, 2011, https://www.wired.com/2011/06/shipbuilder-blames-navy-asbrand-new-warship-disintegrates/.
- Government Accountability Office, "Navy Shipbuilding: Past Performance Provides Valuable Lessons for Future Investments," Report to Congressional Committees, June 2018, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/692331.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/692331.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Navy Shipbuilding: Need to Document Rationale for the Use of Fixed-Price Incentive Contracts and Study Effectiveness of Added Incentives," Report to Congressional Committees, March 2017, https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/683085.pdf.
- Government Accountability Office, "Littoral Combat Ship and Frigate: Congress Faced with Critical Acquisition Decisions," Statement of Paul L. Francis, Managing Director, Acquisition and Sourcing Management, Testimony before the Committee on Armed Services, U.S. Senate, December 1, 2016, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/681333.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/681333.pdf</a>.

- David B. Larter, "Alabama lawmaker accuses Navy secretary of endangering jobs, LCS future," *Defense News*, March 20, 2018, <a href="https://www.defensenews.com/naval/2018/03/20/navy-secretary-bristles-during-questions-about-lcs-program/?utm\_source=Sailthru&utm\_medium=email&utm\_campaign=Defense%20DNR%2003-20-18&utm\_term=Editorial%20-%20Daily%20News%20Roundup.
- Burgess Everett, "Earmarks divide Republicans," *Politico*, May 7, 2014, <a href="https://www.politico.com/story/2014/05/earmark-debate-congress-106470">https://www.politico.com/story/2014/05/earmark-debate-congress-106470</a>.
- Mike Lee and Jeb Hensarling, "Earmarks weaken Congress, won't drain the swamp," Washington Examiner, February 9, 2017, <a href="https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/earmarks-weaken-congress-wont-drain-the-swamp.">https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/earmarks-weaken-congress-wont-drain-the-swamp.</a>
- James Monroe, "Special Message to the House of Representatives Containing the Views of the President of the United States on the Subject of Internal Improvements," May 4, 1822, reproduced online at The American Presidency Project, <a href="https://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/documents/special-message-the-house-representatives-containing-the-views-the-president-the-united">https://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/documents/special-message-the-house-representatives-containing-the-views-the-president-the-united</a>.
- The White House, "Remarks by President Trump in Meeting With Bipartisan Members of Congress on Immigration," January 9, 2018, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-meeting-bipartisan-members-congress-immigration/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-meeting-bipartisan-members-congress-immigration/</a>.
- Sean Kennedy, "All About Pork: The History, Abuse, and Future of Earmarks,"
  Citizens Against Government Waste, 2015, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/sites/default/files/users/user98/All%20About%20Pork%202015-FINAL.pdf">https://www.cagw.org/sites/default/files/users/user98/All%20About%20Pork%202015-FINAL.pdf</a>.
- <sup>67.</sup> Citizens Against Government Waste, *2018 Congressional Pig Book*, July 18, 2018, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/reporting/pig-book">https://www.cagw.org/reporting/pig-book</a>.
- Dale Benton, "The high demand for electric vehicles and the rise of copper, lithium and cobalt," *Mining Global*, June 24, 2017, <a href="https://www.miningglobal.com/investing/high-demand-electric-vehicles-and-rise-copper-lithium-and-cobalt">https://www.miningglobal.com/investing/high-demand-electric-vehicles-and-rise-copper-lithium-and-cobalt</a>.
- The White House, "Presidential Executive order on a Federal Strategy to Ensure Secure and Reliable Supplies of Critical Minerals," December 20, 2017, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-executive-order-federal-strategy-ensure-secure-reliable-supplies-critical-minerals/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-executive-order-federal-strategy-ensure-secure-reliable-supplies-critical-minerals/</a>.
- Department of the Interior, Office of the Secretary, "Final List of Critical Minerals 2018, [178D0102DM, DS6CS00000, DLSN00000, 000000, DX.6CS25]," Federal Register, Vol. 83, No. 97, May 18, 2018: p. 23295, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2018-05-18/pdf/2018-10667.pdf.

- Geological Survey, Department of the Interior, "Mineral Commodity Summaries 2017," January 19, 2017, <a href="https://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2017/mcs2017.pdf">https://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2017/mcs2017.pdf</a>.
- Ned Mamula and Catrina Rorke, "Embarrassment of Riches: Reversing U.S. Minerals Import Dependency," R Street Policy Study No. 96, R Street Institute, May 2017, https://www.rstreet.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/96.pdf.
- <sup>73.</sup> Gary Martin, "Vote likely next week on bill to resume Yucca Mountain licensing process," *Las Vegas Review-Journal*, May 4, 2018, <a href="https://www.reviewjournal.com/news/politics-and-government/nevada/vote-likely-next-week-on-bill-to-resume-yucca-mountain-licensing-process/">https://www.reviewjournal.com/news/politics-and-government/nevada/vote-likely-next-week-on-bill-to-resume-yucca-mountain-licensing-process/</a>.
- 74. Christina Simeone, "Nuclear Decommissioning," Kleinman Center for Energy Policy, August 8, 2016, <a href="https://kleinmanenergy.upenn.edu/paper/nuclear-decommissioning">https://kleinmanenergy.upenn.edu/paper/nuclear-decommissioning</a>.
- 75. Sam J. Ervin, IV, "The State of Energy Regulation in the United States," North Carolina Utilities Commission, <a href="https://pubs.naruc.org/pub.cfm?id=538F9979-2354-D714-51EE-34D36131BC2C">https://pubs.naruc.org/pub.cfm?id=538F9979-2354-D714-51EE-34D36131BC2C</a>.
- 76. Brad Plumer, "Trump Orders a Lifeline for Struggling Coal and Nuclear Plants," The New York Times, June 1, 2018, <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/01/climate/trump-coal-nuclear-power.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/01/climate/trump-coal-nuclear-power.html</a>.
- Jennifer A. Dlouhy, "Trump Prepares Lifeline for Money-Losing Coal Plants," Bloomberg, June 1, 2018, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2018-06-01/trump-said-to-grant-lifeline-to-money-losing-coal-powerplants-jhv94ghl.
- <sup>78.</sup> Brad Plumer, "Rick Perry's Plan to Rescue Struggling Coal and Nuclear Plants Is Rejected," *The New York Times*, January 8, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/08/climate/trump-coal-nuclear.html?module=inline.
- Congressional Budget Office, "The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2019 to 2029," p. 62, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf">https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=2019-01/54918-Outlook.pdf</a>.
- 80. Ibid.
- 81. Ibid., "At a Glance."
- Social Security and Medicare Boards of Trustees, "A Summary of the 2018 Annual Reports," Social Security Administration, June 5, 2018, <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/oact/TRSUM">https://www.ssa.gov/oact/TRSUM</a>.
- Social Security Administration, "Monthly Statistical Snapshot, December 2018," Research, Statistics & Policy Analysis, January 2019, <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/quickfacts/stat\_snapshot">https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/quickfacts/stat\_snapshot</a>.

- American Academy of Actuaries, "An Actuarial Perspective on the 2018 Social Security Trustees Report," June 2018, <a href="http://www.actuary.org/content/actuarial-perspective-2018-social-security-trustees-report-0">http://www.actuary.org/content/actuarial-perspective-2018-social-security-trustees-report-0</a>.
- Social Security Administration, "Social Security History: Life Expectancy for Social Security," <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/history/lifeexpect.html">https://www.ssa.gov/history/lifeexpect.html</a>.
- Social Security Administration, "Benefits Planner Life Expectancy," <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/planners/lifeexpectancy.html">https://www.ssa.gov/planners/lifeexpectancy.html</a>.
- Social Security Administration, "Retirement Age Calculator," <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/planners/retire/ageincrease.html">https://www.ssa.gov/planners/retire/ageincrease.html</a>.
- Social Security Administration Office of the Chief Actuary, "Summary of Provisions That Would Change the Social Security Program," September 13, 2018, p. 17, <a href="https://www.ssa.gov/oact/solvency/provisions/summary.pdf">https://www.ssa.gov/oact/solvency/provisions/summary.pdf</a>.
- 89. Congressional Budget Office, "The Budget and Economic Outlook," pp. 68, 142.
- Congressional Research Service, "Trends in Social Security Disability Insurance Enrollment," November 30, 2018, "Summary" page, <a href="https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R45419.pdf">https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R45419.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "SSA Could Do More to Prevent Overpayments or Incorrect Waivers to Beneficiaries," GAO-16-34, October 15, 2015, "Highlights" page, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/673426.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/673426.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "SSA Disability Benefits: Comprehensive Strategic Approach Needed to Enhance Antifraud Activities," GAO-17-228, April 26, 2017, "Highlights" page, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-17-228">https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-17-228</a>.
- 93. Avik Roy, "How Americans Game the \$200 Billion-a-Year 'Disability-Industrial Complex,' " Forbes, April 8, 2013, https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2013/04/08/how-americans-game-the-200-billion-a-year-disability-industrial-complex/#7f4219f54b6d.
- Board of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds, "2018 Annual Report of the Board of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplemental Medical Insurance Trust Funds," June 5, 2018, p. 7, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf">https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf</a>.
- 95. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Fast Facts," <a href="https://www.cms.gov/research-statistics-data-and-systems/statistics-trends-and-reports/cms-fast-facts/index.html">https://www.cms.gov/research-statistics-data-and-systems/statistics-trends-and-reports/cms-fast-facts/index.html</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Medicare and Medicaid: CMS Needs to Fully Align Its Antifraud Efforts with the Fraud Risk Framework," GAO-18-88," December 2017, p. 8, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/688748.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/688748.pdf</a>.

- 97. The Washington Times, "U.S. Health Plans Have a History of Cost Overruns," November 18, 2009, <a href="https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2009/nov/18/health-programs-have-history-of-cost-overruns">https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2009/nov/18/health-programs-have-history-of-cost-overruns</a>.
- <sup>98.</sup> Congressional Budget Office, "The Budget and Economic Outlook," p. 62.
- <sup>99.</sup> Bernie Sanders, "Medicare for All: Leaving No One Behind," <a href="https://live-berniesanders-com.pantheonsite.io/issues/medicare-for-all">https://live-berniesanders-com.pantheonsite.io/issues/medicare-for-all</a>.
- Bernie Sanders, "Making the Wealthy, Wall Street, and Large Corporations
  Pay their Fair Share," <a href="https://live-berniesanders-com.pantheonsite.io/issues/making-the-wealthy-pay-fair-share">https://live-berniesanders-com.pantheonsite.io/issues/making-the-wealthy-pay-fair-share</a>.
- 101. Charles Blahous, "The Cost of a National Single-Payer Healthcare System," Mercatus Center, George Mason University, July 2018, pp. 3–4, <a href="https://www.mercatus.org/system/files/blahous-costs-medicare-mercatus-working-paper-v1\_1.pdf">https://www.mercatus.org/system/files/blahous-costs-medicare-mercatus-working-paper-v1\_1.pdf</a>.
- John Holahan, Matthew Buettgens, Lisa Clemans-Cope, Melissa M. Favreault, Linda J. Blumberg, and Siyabonga Ndwandwe, "The Sanders Single-Payer Health Care Plan: The Effect on National Expenditures and Federal and Private Spending," Urban Institute, May 16, 2016, <a href="https://www.urban.org/research/publication/sanders-single-payer-health-care-plan-effect-national-health-expenditures-and-federal-and-private-spending">https://www.urban.org/research/publication/sanders-single-payer-health-care-plan-effect-national-health-expenditures-and-federal-and-private-spending</a>.
- Jared Walczak, "These States Wanted 'Medicare for All' Until They Saw the Price Tag," Washington Examiner, July 30, 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/op-eds/these-states-wanted-medicare-for-all-until-they-saw-the-price-tag">https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/op-eds/these-states-wanted-medicare-for-all-until-they-saw-the-price-tag</a>.
- Congressional Budget Office, "A Premium Support System for Medicare: Updated Analysis of Illustrative Options," October 2017, p. 1, https://www.cbo.gov/system/files?file=115th-congress-2017-2018/reports/53077-premiumsupport.pdf.
- <sup>105.</sup> Ibid.
- Robert Moffit and Rea Hederman, "CBO Confirms: Medicare Premium Support Means Savings for Taxpayers and Seniors," Heritage Foundation, February 3, 2014, <a href="https://www.heritage.org/health-care-reform/report/cbo-confirms-medicare-premium-support-means-savings-taxpayers-and-seniors">https://www.heritage.org/health-care-reform/report/cbo-confirms-medicare-premium-support-means-savings-taxpayers-and-seniors</a>.
- 107. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "October 2018 Medicaid and CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights," <a href="https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/">https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/</a> program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollment-data/report-highlights/index.html.

- Kaiser Family Foundation, "Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid and Multiplier," 2019, <a href="https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rate-and-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=1&sortModel=%7B">https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rate-and-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=1&sortModel=%7B</a> %22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, "Medicaid Fraud Control Units Fiscal Year 2017 Annual Report," March 2018, https://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-09-18-00180.pdf.
- Department of Health and Human Services, "Medicare and Medicaid: CMS Needs to Fully Align Its Antifraud Efforts," p. 8.
- Congressional Budget Office, "Federal Subsidies for Health Insurance Coverage for People Under Age 65: 2018 to 2028," May 2018, p. 4, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/reports/53826-healthinsurancecoverage.pdf">https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/reports/53826-healthinsurancecoverage.pdf</a>.
- Kaiser Family Foundation, "Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions:
  Interactive Map," January 23, 2019, <a href="https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map">https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map</a>.
- Amy Goldstein, "Three Deep Red States Vote to Expand Medicaid," The Washington Post, November 7, 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/three-deep-red-states-vote-to-expand-medicaid/2018/11/07/6586ae58-e1dc-11e8-ab2c-b31dcd53ca6b\_story.html?utm\_term=.c64670c288a8.</a>
- Laura Vozzella, "Enrollment in Virginia's Expanded Medicaid Program is Beating Projections," The Washington Post, November 29, 2018, https://www. washingtonpost.com/local/virginia-politics/enrollment-in-virginias-expanded-medicaid-program-is-beating-projections/2018/11/29/a62bfce6-f281-11e8-aeea-b85fd44449f5\_story.html?utm\_term=.97f0d2b2f1a7.
- John Daniel Davidson, "50 Years Later, Medicaid and Medicare Still Spend Us into Oblivion," *The Federalist*, July 31, 2015, <a href="http://thefederalist.com/2015/07/31/medicare-medicaid-same-problems-50-years-ago.">http://thefederalist.com/2015/07/31/medicare-medicaid-same-problems-50-years-ago.</a>
- Congressional Budget Office, "Options for Reducing the Debt: 2019–2028," December 13, 2018, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/budget-options/2018/54728">https://www.cbo.gov/budget-options/2018/54728</a>; Avik Roy, "Governors' Worst Nightmare: Obama Proposed Shifting Costs of Obamacare's Medicaid Expansion to the States," Forbes, July 19, 2012, <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2012/07/19/governors-worst-nightmare-obama-proposed-shifting-costs-of-obamacares-medicaid-expansion-to-the-states/#633ae7a52572</a>.

- Avik Roy, "'Health Affairs' Study: One-Third of Doctors Won't Accept New Medicaid Patients," Forbes, August 7, 2012, <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2012/08/07/health-affairs-study-one-third-of-doctors-wont-accept-new-medicaid-patients/#479c6ec93f10">https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2012/08/07/health-affairs-study-one-third-of-doctors-wont-accept-new-medicaid-patients/#479c6ec93f10</a>.
- Brian Blase, "Medicaid Expansion Causes Surge in ER Visits," *Forbes*, October 20, 2016, <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2016/10/20/medicaid-expansion-causes-surge-in-er-visits/#74d3b435f0f2">https://www.forbes.com/sites/theapothecary/2016/10/20/medicaid-expansion-causes-surge-in-er-visits/#74d3b435f0f2</a>.
- Health Policy Consensus Group, "Health Care Choices Proposal," <a href="https://www.healthcarereform2018.org">https://www.healthcarereform2018.org</a>.
- General Services Administration, "FRPP Frequently Asked Questions," <a href="https://www.gsa.gov/policy-regulations/policy/real-property-policy/asset-management/federal-real-property-profile-frpp/frpp-frequently-asked-questions">https://www.gsa.gov/policy-regulations/policy/real-property-policy/asset-management/federal-real-property-profile-frpp/frpp-frequently-asked-questions</a>.
- Conservation in the West Poll, The Colorado College State of the Rockies Project, Public Opinion Strategies, and Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & Associates, "Public Lands," 2016, <a href="https://www.coloradocollege.edu/dotAsset/f0d3d63c-aad8-477e-bfdc-fa7d780a1d53.pdf">https://www.coloradocollege.edu/dotAsset/f0d3d63c-aad8-477e-bfdc-fa7d780a1d53.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Managing Federal Real Property, High-Risk Series, Progress on Many High-Risk Areas, While Substantial Efforts Needed on Others," GAO-17-317, February 15, 2017, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/highrisk/managing\_federal\_property/why\_did\_study">https://www.gao.gov/highrisk/managing\_federal\_property/why\_did\_study</a>.
- Garrett Hatch, "Disposal of Unneeded Federal Buildings: Legislative Proposals in the 112th Congress," Congressional Research Service, August 6, 2012, <a href="https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42646.pdf">https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42646.pdf</a>.
- General Services Administration, "Resources for the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Program," https://disposal.gsa.gov/s/homelessassistance.
- Garrett Hatch, "Disposal of Unneeded Federal Buildings: Legislative Proposals in the 114th Congress," Congressional Research Service, February 12, 2016, <a href="https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44377.pdf">https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44377.pdf</a>.
- Sarah D. Wire, "The government spends \$1.7 billion a year on 770,000 empty buildings, and one Central Valley congressman is fed up," Los Angeles Times, March 3, 2016, <a href="https://www.latimes.com/politics/la-pol-ca-jeff-denham-government-property-bill-20160303-story.html">https://www.latimes.com/politics/la-pol-ca-jeff-denham-government-property-bill-20160303-story.html</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "FEDERAL REAL PROPERTY: Current Efforts, GAO Recommendations, and Proposed Legislation Could Address Challenges," GAO-15-688T, June 16, 2015, https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/671497.pdf.

- Carol Hardy Vincent, Laura A. Hanson, and Carla N. Argueta, "Federal Land Ownership: Overview and Data," Congressional Research Service, March 3, 2017, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42346.pdf.
- Alex Shashkevich, "New interactive Stanford website presents unexamined data on federal programs that aid local governments in the American West," Stanford News, November 30, 2016, <a href="https://news.stanford.edu/2016/11/30/new-interactive-stanford-website-presents-unexamined-data-federal-programs-aid-local-governments-american-west/">https://news.stanford.edu/2016/11/30/new-interactive-stanford-website-presents-unexamined-data-federal-programs-aid-local-governments-american-west/</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "Capital Financing: Alternative Approaches to Budgeting for Federal Real Property," GAO-14-239, March 12, 2014, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/661564.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/661564.pdf</a>.
- Government Accountability Office, "High-Risk Series: An Update," GAO-03-119, January 2003, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/240/237063.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/240/237063.pdf</a>.
- Council of Economic Advisers, "The Growth Potential of Deregulation,"
  October 2, 2017, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/documents/The%20Growth%20Potential%20of%20Deregulation\_1.pdf">https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/documents/The%20Growth%20Potential%20of%20Deregulation\_1.pdf</a>.
- "S. 2155 Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act," Congress.gov, November 16, 2017, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/2155">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/2155</a>.
- "S. 488 JOBS and Investor Confidence Act of 2018," Congress.gov, March 1, 2017, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/488.
- Jeb Hensarling, "To Restore U.S. Competitiveness, Pass the JOBS Act 3.0," *The Wall Street Journal*, July 15, 2018, <a href="https://www.wsj.com/articles/to-restore-u-s-competitiveness-pass-the-jobs-act-3-0-1531680369">https://www.wsj.com/articles/to-restore-u-s-competitiveness-pass-the-jobs-act-3-0-1531680369</a>.
- Federal Housing Finance Agency, "Dodd-Frank Act Stress Tests Results:

  Severely Adverse Scenario," August 7, 2018, <a href="https://www.fhfa.gov/AboutUs/Reports/ReportDocuments/2018\_DFAST\_Severely-Adverse-Scenario.">https://www.fhfa.gov/AboutUs/Reports/ReportDocuments/2018\_DFAST\_Severely-Adverse-Scenario.</a>

  pdf#page=4.
- "A Failure to Act: How a Decade Without GSE Reform Has Once Again Put Taxpayers at Risk," Committee on Financial Services Hearing, September 6, 2018, <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1CBJE3tzzZo">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1CBJE3tzzZo</a>.
- 138. Kenneth R. Harney, "Fannie and Freddie approve thousands of loans with no formal appraisals," The Washington Post, May 2, 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/realestate/fannie-and-freddie-approve-thousands-of-loans-with-no-formal-appraisals/2018/04/30/50503d9c-4c95-11e8-af46-b1d6dc0d9bfe\_story.html?utm\_term=.8d207df02bef.</a>

- Charles S. Wilkins and Thomas W. White, "A Privatized Multifamily Financing Market Beginning with GSE Reorganization without Guarantees," American Enterprise Institute, July 18, 2013, <a href="http://www.aei.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/-white-wilkins-aei-paper-a-privatized-multifamily-financing-market-brief-7-16-13">http://www.aei.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/-white-wilkins-aei-paper-a-privatized-multifamily-financing-market-brief-7-16-13</a> 170321805224.pdf.
- Freddie Mac, "Integrated Mortgage Insurance (IMAGIN)," <a href="https://crt.freddiemac.com/offerings/imagin.aspx#overview-details">https://crt.freddiemac.com/offerings/imagin.aspx#overview-details</a>.
- Federal Housing Finance Agency, "Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to Conclude Single-Family Rental Pilot Programs," August 21, 2018, <a href="https://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/Pages/Fannie-Mae-and-Freddie-Mac-to-Conclude-Single-Family-Rental-Pilot-Programs.aspx">https://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/Pages/Fannie-Mae-and-Freddie-Mac-to-Conclude-Single-Family-Rental-Pilot-Programs.aspx</a>.
- Federal Housing Finance Agency Office of Inspector General, "Special Report: Update on FHFA's Oversight of Fannie Mae's Build-Out of Its Newly Leased Class A Office Space in Midtown Center," September 28, 2017, <a href="https://www.fhfaoig.gov/Content/Files/pw%20DC%20Lease%20Update%209">https://www.fhfaoig.gov/Content/Files/pw%20DC%20Lease%20Update%209</a> %2028 2017. pdf.
- "A Failure to Act."
- <sup>144.</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>145.</sup> Ibid.
- "Mnuchin on the Future of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac," Fox Business, April 30, 2018, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=i6T6B3hl4Sc.
- "H.R. 6746 Protecting American Taxpayers and Homeowners Act of 2018," Congress.gov, September 7, 2018, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/6746">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/6746</a>.
- "Federal Housing Administration," HUD.gov, <a href="https://www.hud.gov/federal-housing-administration">https://www.hud.gov/federal-housing-administration</a>.
- Chad Cirico and Susanne Mehlman, "FHA's Single-Family Mortgage Guarantee Program: Budgetary Cost of Savings?," Congressional Budget Office, October 21, 2013, <a href="https://www.cbo.gov/publication/44628">https://www.cbo.gov/publication/44628</a>.
- Vicki Needham, "FHA's balance sheet rebounds after bailout," *The Hill*, November 16, 2015, <a href="https://thehill.com/policy/finance/260278-fhas-balance-sheet-continues-strong-rebound">https://thehill.com/policy/finance/260278-fhas-balance-sheet-continues-strong-rebound</a>.
- Sean Sullivan, "Republicans abandon the fight to repeal and replace Obama's health care law," *The Washington Post*, November 7, 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/republicans-abandon-the-fight-to-repeal-and-replace-obamas-health-care-law/2018/11/07/157d052c-e2d8-11e8-ab2c-b31dcd53ca6b\_story.html?noredirect=on&utm\_term=.0f38089d2cd8.</a>

- President Barack Obama, YouTube, <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=</a>
  <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=">o65vMUk5so</a>.
- Department of Health and Human Services, "Average Health Insurance Premiums Doubled Since 2013," May 23, 2017, <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2017/05/23/hhs-report-average-health-insurance-premiums-doubled-2013.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2017/05/23/hhs-report-average-health-insurance-premiums-doubled-2013.html</a>.
- Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, "Health Plan Choice and Premiums in the 2018 Federal Health Insurance Exchange," October 30, 2017, pp. 6–7, <a href="https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/258456/Landscape\_Master2018\_1.pdf">https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/258456/Landscape\_Master2018\_1.pdf</a>.
- <sup>155.</sup> Ibid, p. 3.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "Trump Administration announces State Relief and Empowerment Waivers to give states the flexibility to lower premiums and increase choices for their health insurance markets,"

  October 22, 2018, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/trump-administration-announces-state-relief-and-empowerment-waivers-give-states-flexibility-lower">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/trump-administration-announces-state-relief-and-empowerment-waivers-give-states-flexibility-lower</a>.
- Naomi Klouda, "State gets more than expected for reinsurance program," Alaska Journal of Commerce, February 14, 2018, <a href="http://www.alaskajournal.com/2018-02-14/state-gets-more-expected-reinsurance-program#">http://www.alaskajournal.com/2018-02-14/state-gets-more-expected-reinsurance-program#</a>.
  XE8jCvZFyUI.
- Doug Badger and Edmund Haislmaier, "State Innovation: The Key to Affordable Health Care Coverage Choices," Heritage Foundation Backgrounder 3354, September 27, 2018, pp. 1-5, <a href="https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2018-09/BG3354">https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2018-09/BG3354</a> 2.pdf.
- Department of Health and Human Services, "Trump Administration Delivers on Promise of More Affordable Health Insurance Options," August 1, 2018, <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2018/08/01/trump-administration-delivers-on-promise-of-more-affordable-health-insurance-options.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2018/08/01/trump-administration-delivers-on-promise-of-more-affordable-health-insurance-options.html</a>.
- Department of Labor, "President Donald J. Trump Helps Millions of Americans Employed by Small Business Gain Access to Quality, Affordable Health Coverage," June 19, 2018, <a href="https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/osec/osec20180619">https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/osec/osec20180619</a>.
- Department of Labor, "U.S. Departments of the Treasury, Health and Human Services, and Labor Announce Proposal to Expand Access to Quality, Affordable, Health Coverage," October 23, 2018, <a href="https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/ebsa/ebsa20181023">https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/ebsa/ebsa20181023</a>.

- Health Policy Consensus Group, "Health Care Choices Proposal," <a href="https://www.healthcarereform2018.org/the-health-care-choices-proposal-policy-recommendations-to-congress">https://www.healthcarereform2018.org/the-health-care-choices-proposal-policy-recommendations-to-congress</a>.
- Bob Herman, "What, me buy insurance?," *Modern Healthcare*, May 14, 2016, https://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20160514/magazine/305149980.
- The Boards of Trustees, Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds, "2018 Annual Report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds," June 5, 2018, <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf">https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2018.pdf</a>.
- <sup>165.</sup> Curtis Kalin, "The VA Scandal Refuses to End," *The WasteWatcher*, March 9, 2018, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/va-scandal-refuses-end">https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/va-scandal-refuses-end</a>.
- <sup>166.</sup> Curtis Kalin, "VA Scandal Rages On in 2016," *The WasteWatcher*, August 18, 2016, https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/va-scandal-rages-2016.
- Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Inspector General, "Critical Deficiencies at the Washington DC VA Medical Center," March 7, 2018, pp. i–vii, https://www.va.gov/oig/pubs/VAOIG-17-02644-130.pdf.
- Scott W. Atlas, "Single-Payer Health Care Is A Terrible Option," Hoover Institution, October 24, 2017, <a href="https://www.hoover.org/research/single-payer-health-care-terrible">https://www.hoover.org/research/single-payer-health-care-terrible</a>.
- Quoted in William F. Patry, *Copyright Law and Practice*, Bureau of National Affairs, 1994, 2000, <a href="http://digital-law-online.info/patry/patry5.html">http://digital-law-online.info/patry/patry5.html</a>.
- <sup>170.</sup> Ibid.
- Justin Antonipillai and Michelle K. Lee, "Intellectual Property and the U.S. Economy: 2016 Update," Economics and Statistics Administration and the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, September 26, 2016, <a href="https://www.uspto.gov/sites/default/files/documents/IPandtheUSEconomySept2016.pdf">https://www.uspto.gov/sites/default/files/documents/IPandtheUSEconomySept2016.pdf</a>.
- <sup>172.</sup> Ibid.
- U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Global Innovation Policy Center, "U.S. Chamber International IP Index," 6th ed., February 2018, <a href="http://www.theglobalipcenter.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/GIPC">http://www.theglobalipcenter.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/GIPC</a> IP Index 2018.pdf.
- Department of Homeland Security, "Intellectual Property Rights Seizure Statistics, Fiscal Year 2017," February 2018, <a href="https://www.cbp.gov/sites/default/files/assets/documents/2018-Feb/trade-fy2017-ipr-seizures.pdf">https://www.cbp.gov/sites/default/files/assets/documents/2018-Feb/trade-fy2017-ipr-seizures.pdf</a>.
- <sup>175.</sup> Ibid.

- The Commission on the Theft of American Intellectual Property, "The Theft of American Intellectual Property: Reassessments of the Challenge and United States Policy, Update to the IP Commission Report," National Bureau of Asian Research, February 2017, <a href="https://www.ipcommission.org/report/lp-20mmission-Report-Update-2017.pdf">http://www.ipcommission.org/report/lp-2017.pdf</a>.
  IP Commission Report Update 2017.pdf.
- <sup>177.</sup> Ibid.
- DISH Network L.L.C. and NagraStar LLC v. Nelson Johnson, Jason Labossiere, Set Broadcast LLC, Streaming Entertainment Technology LLC, Doe 1, as Trustee for Chateau Living Revocable Trust and Doe 2, as Trustee for Macromint Trust, individually and collectively d/b/a www.setvnow.com, Civil Case No. 8:18-cv-1332-T-33AAS, Final Judgment and Permanent Injunction, October 24, 2018, https://torrentfreak.com/images/DISH-v-SET-judgment.pdf.
- Alexander Hamilton, James Madison, John Jay, The Federalist Papers, introduction and notes by Charles R. Kesler, New York, Signet Classics, 1961, p. 268.
- Alexander Bolton, "Momentum for Earmarks Grows With Dem Majority,"

  The Hill, January 23, 2019, <a href="https://thehill.com/homenews/house/426525-momentum-for-earmarks-grows-with-dem-majority">https://thehill.com/homenews/house/426525-momentum-for-earmarks-grows-with-dem-majority</a>.
- Shannon Vavra, "Congress Has Paid \$17 Million in Sexual Misconduct and Discrimination Settlements," *Axios*, November 17, 2017, <a href="https://www.axios.com/congress-has-paid-17-million-in-sexual-misconduct-and-discrimination-settlements-1513307017-9c47398e-ffa0-460f-87a6-80d634e0e216.html">https://www.axios.com/congress-has-paid-17-million-in-sexual-misconduct-and-discrimination-settlements-1513307017-9c47398e-ffa0-460f-87a6-80d634e0e216.html</a>.
- James Sherk, "Labor Department Can Create Jobs by Calculating Davis-Bacon Rates More Accurately," The Heritage Foundation, January 21, 2017, <a href="https://www.heritage.org/jobs-and-labor/report/labor-department-can-create-jobs-calculating-davis-bacon-rates-more">https://www.heritage.org/jobs-and-labor/report/labor-department-can-create-jobs-calculating-davis-bacon-rates-more</a>.
- Congressional Budget Office, "Repeal the Davis-Bacon Act," December 13, 2018, https://www.cbo.gov/budget-options/2018/54786.
- Kyle Gibson, "States Making Legislative Moves Months Before Janus Decision Expected," Watchdog.org, April 12, 2018, https://www.watchdog.org/national/states-making-legislative-moves-months-before-janus-decision-expected/article fa248504-3448-11e8-a434-334470fdf4e2.html.
- Trey Kovacs, "In Aftermath of 'Janus' Decision, Blue States Push Pro-Union Bills," Competitive Enterprise Institute, January 22, 2019, <a href="https://cei.org/blog/aftermath-janus-decision-blue-states-push-pro-union-bills">https://cei.org/blog/aftermath-janus-decision-blue-states-push-pro-union-bills</a>.
- Spencer Chretien, "Hawaii Bill Would Use Tax Dollars to Pay Unions," Citizens Against Government Waste, March 14, 2018, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/hawaii-bill-would-use-tax-dollars-pay-unions">https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/hawaii-bill-would-use-tax-dollars-pay-unions</a>.

- Rachel Greszler, "Underfunded Pensions Face Choice: Lay Off Workers or Keep Promises to Retirees," The Heritage Foundation, April 25, 2018, <a href="https://www.heritage.org/jobs-and-labor/commentary/underfunded-pensions-force-choice-lay-workers-or-keep-promises-retirees">https://www.heritage.org/jobs-and-labor/commentary/underfunded-pensions-force-choice-lay-workers-or-keep-promises-retirees</a>.
- Andrew G. Biggs, "Multiemployer Pension Hole Keeps Getting Deeper,"

  American Enterprise Institute, September 19, 2018, <a href="http://www.aei.org/publication/multiemployer-pension-hole-keeps-getting-deeper/">http://www.aei.org/publication/multiemployer-pension-hole-keeps-getting-deeper/</a>.
- Roslyn Layton, "The GDPR: What It Really Does and How the U.S. Can Chart a Better Course," *Federalist Society Review*, Volume 19, October 29, 2018, <a href="https://fedsoc.org/commentary/publications/the-gdpr-what-it-really-does-and-how-the-u-s-can-chart-a-better-course">https://fedsoc.org/commentary/publications/the-gdpr-what-it-really-does-and-how-the-u-s-can-chart-a-better-course</a>.
- 190. Citizens Against Government Waste, "Comments to NTIA on Developing the Administration's Approach to Consumer Privacy," November 8, 2018, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/legislative-affairs/agency-comments/comments-ntia-developing-administrations-approach-consumer">https://www.cagw.org/legislative-affairs/agency-comments/comments-ntia-developing-administrations-approach-consumer</a>.
- David Sherfinski, "Obama's Regulations in 2016 to Drain Economy by \$2

  Trillion," *The Washington Times*, May 31, 2017, <a href="https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2017/may/31/obamas-regulations-in-2016-to-drain-economy-by-2-t/">https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2017/may/31/obamas-regulations-in-2016-to-drain-economy-by-2-t/</a>.
- James Gattuso and Diane Katz, "20,642 New Regulations Added in the Obama Presidency," *The Daily Signal*, May 23, 2016, <a href="https://www.dailysignal.com/2016/05/23/20642-new-regulations-added-in-the-obama-presidency/">https://www.dailysignal.com/2016/05/23/20642-new-regulations-added-in-the-obama-presidency/</a>.
- Sam Batkins, "600 Major Regulations," American Action Forum, August 6, 2016, https://www.americanactionforum.org/insight/600-major-regulations/.
- Clyde Wayne Crews, "The 2017 Unconstitutionality Index: 18 Federal Rules for Every Law Congress Passes," Competitive Enterprise Institute, December 30, 2016, <a href="https://cei.org/blog/2017-unconstitutionality-index-18-federal-rules-every-law-congress-passes">https://cei.org/blog/2017-unconstitutionality-index-18-federal-rules-every-law-congress-passes</a>.
- The White House, "Presidential Executive Order on Reducing Regulation and Controlling Regulatory Costs," January 30, 2017, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-executive-order-reducing-regulation-controlling-regulatory-costs/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-executive-order-reducing-regulation-controlling-regulatory-costs/</a>.
- Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, "Regulatory Reform: Two-for-One Status Report and Regulatory Cost Caps," December 7, 2017, <a href="https://www.reginfo.gov/public/pdf/eo13771/FINAL\_TOPLINE\_All\_20171207.pdf">https://www.reginfo.gov/public/pdf/eo13771/FINAL\_TOPLINE\_All\_20171207.pdf</a>.

- 197. Clyde Wayne Crews, Ten Thousand Commandments: An Annual Snapshot of the Federal Regulatory State, 2018 Edition, Competitive Enterprise Institute, 2018, <a href="https://cei.org/sites/default/files/Ten\_Thousand\_">https://cei.org/sites/default/files/Ten\_Thousand\_</a> Commandments 2018.pdf.
- Clyde Wayne Crews, "Trump's 2018 Deregulatory Effort: 3,367 Rules, 68,082 Pages," Competitive Enterprise Institute, December 31, 2018, <a href="https://cei.org/blog/trumps-2018-deregulatory-effort-3367-rules-68082-pages">https://cei.org/blog/trumps-2018-deregulatory-effort-3367-rules-68082-pages</a>.
- Clyde Wayne Crews, "Trump Exceeds One-In, Two-Out Goals on Cutting Regulations, But It May Be Getting Tougher," Forbes, October 23, 2018, https://www.forbes.com/sites/waynecrews/2018/10/23/trump-exceeds-one-in-two-out-goals-on-cutting-regulations-but-it-may-be-getting-tougher/#5b2422243d40.
- <sup>200.</sup> Clyde Wayne Crews, "The 2019 Unconstitutionality Index," Competitive Enterprise Institute, December 31, 2018, <a href="https://cei.org/blog/2019-unconstitutionality-index">https://cei.org/blog/2019-unconstitutionality-index</a>.
- Paul Bedard, "Trump Slashes \$16.4B of Regulations, 70 Percent of Agencies Cut," Washington Examiner, January 8, 2019, <a href="https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/washington-secrets/trump-slashes-16-4-billion-of-regulations-70-percent-of-agencies-cut">https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/washington-secrets/trump-slashes-16-4-billion-of-regulations-70-percent-of-agencies-cut</a>.
- <sup>202.</sup> Curtis Kalin, "Beware of Midnight Regulations," Citizens Against Government Waste, December 20, 2016, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/beware-midnight-regulations">https://www.cagw.org/thewastewatcher/beware-midnight-regulations</a>.
- 203. Stephen Dinan, "GOP Rolled Back 14 of 15 Obama Rules Using Congressional Review Act," *The Washington Times*, May 15, 2017, <a href="https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2017/may/15/gop-rolled-back-14-of-15-obama-rules-using-congres/">https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2017/may/15/gop-rolled-back-14-of-15-obama-rules-using-congres/</a>.
- Cheryl Bolen, "2019 Outlook: Four Things About Trump's Push to Deregulate," Bloomberg Government, December 21, 2018, <a href="https://about.bgov.com/blog/2019-outlook-trumps-push-deregulate/">https://about.bgov.com/blog/2019-outlook-trumps-push-deregulate/</a>.
- 205. Government Accountability Office, "Information Technology: Continued Implementation of High-Risk Recommendations Is Needed to Better Manage Acquisitions Operations and Cybersecurity," GAO-18-566T, May 23, 2018, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-18-566T">https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-18-566T</a>.
- Tam Harbert, "Confessions of a Cobol Programmer," Computerworld, February 20, 2008, <a href="https://www.computerworld.com/article/2537042/it-careers/confessions-of-a-cobol-programmer.html">https://www.computerworld.com/article/2537042/it-careers/confessions-of-a-cobol-programmer.html</a>.

- Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Inspector General, "Audit of FLITE Program Management's Implementation of Lessons Learned," 09-01467-216, September 16, 2009, <a href="https://www.va.gov/oig/52/reports/2009/VAOIG-09-01467-216.pdf">https://www.va.gov/oig/52/reports/2009/VAOIG-09-01467-216.pdf</a>.
- Billy Mitchell, "VA Moves to USDA Financial Shared Services," fedscoop, October 5, 2016, <a href="https://www.fedscoop.com/va-moves-to-usda-financial-shared-services/">https://www.fedscoop.com/va-moves-to-usda-financial-shared-services/</a>.
- Department of Defense Office of Inspector General, "DOD Management of Software Applications DODIG-2019-037," December 13, 2018, <a href="https://www.dodig.mil/reports.html/Article/1716333/dod-management-of-software-applications-dodig-2019-037/">https://www.dodig.mil/reports.html/Article/1716333/dod-management-of-software-applications-dodig-2019-037/</a>.
- Colin Clark, "Pentagon Hopes JEDI Contract Good For The Force," Breaking Defense, July 26, 2018, <a href="https://breakingdefense.com/2018/07/pentagon-hopes-jedi-contract-good-for-the-force/">https://breakingdefense.com/2018/07/pentagon-hopes-jedi-contract-good-for-the-force/</a>.
- U.S. Postal Service, "U.S. Postal Service Reports Fiscal Year 2018 Results,"

  November 14, 2018, <a href="http://about.usps.com/news/national-releases/2018/pr18">http://about.usps.com/news/national-releases/2018/pr18</a> 093.htm.
- Curtis Kalin, "CAGW: Escalating USPS Losses Show Continued Distress," Citizens Against Government Waste, May 11, 2018, <a href="https://www.cagw.org/media/">https://www.cagw.org/media/</a> <a href="press-releases/cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw.org/media/</a> <a href="press-releases/cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases/cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases/cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escalating-usps-losses-show-continued-distress</a> <a href="press-releases-show-continued-distress">https://www.cagw-escal
- "U.S. Postal Service Reports Fiscal Year 2018 Results."
- Government Accountability Office, "Restructuring the U.S. Postal Service to Achieve Sustainable Financial Viability," in "High Risk Series: Progress on Many High-Risk Areas, While Substantial Efforts Needed on Others," GAO-17-317, February 15, 2017, <a href="https://www.gao.gov/highrisk/restructuring\_postal/why\_did\_study#t=0">https://www.gao.gov/highrisk/restructuring\_postal/why\_did\_study#t=0</a>.
- U.S. Postal Service Office of Inspector General, "A New Reality: Correspondence Mail in the Digital Age," RARC-WP-18-004, March 5, 2018, <a href="https://www.uspsoig.gov/sites/default/files/document-library-files/2018/RARC-WP-18-004.pdf">https://www.uspsoig.gov/sites/default/files/document-library-files/2018/RARC-WP-18-004.pdf</a>.
- Declaration of Robert J. Shapiro, "In the Matter of Institutional Cost Contribution Requirement for Competitive Products," Docket No. RM2017-1, Postal Regulatory Commission, April 16, 2018, <a href="https://www.prc.gov/docs/104/104592/Statement-Robert%20Shapiro%20Re%20RM2017-1.pdf">https://www.prc.gov/docs/104/104592/Statement-Robert%20Shapiro%20Re%20RM2017-1.pdf</a>.
- The White House, "Executive Order on the Task Force on the United States Postal System," April 12, 2018, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-task-force-united-states-postal-system/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-task-force-united-states-postal-system/</a>.

- Task Force on the United States Postal System, "United States Postal Service:
  A Sustainable Path Forward," December 4, 2018, <a href="https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/USPS\_A\_Sustainable\_Path\_Forward\_report\_12-04-2018.pdf">https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/USPS\_A\_Sustainable\_Path\_Forward\_report\_12-04-2018.pdf</a>.
- Jordan Weissmann, "Kirsten Gillibrand Unveils Her Ambitious Plan to
  Turn the Post Office Into a Bank," *Slate*, July 30, 2018, <a href="https://slate.com/business/2018/04/kirsten-gillibrands-ambitious-postal-banking-bill.html">https://slate.com/business/2018/04/kirsten-gillibrands-ambitious-postal-banking-bill.html</a>.
- Letter to Secretary Steven T. Mnuchin, U.S. Department of the Treasury, from U.S. Sen. Bernard Sanders (D-Vt.), June 6, 2018, <a href="https://www.scribd.com/document/395100111/Sanders-Post-Office-Letter-to-Mnuchin#from\_embed">https://www.scribd.com/document/395100111/Sanders-Post-Office-Letter-to-Mnuchin#from\_embed</a>.
- Aliyah Frumin, "Elizabeth Warren Backs plan to save USPS, replace payday lenders," MSNBC, February 4, 2014, <a href="http://www.msnbc.com/msnbc/elizabeth-warrens-plan-save-the-usps#50084">http://www.msnbc.com/msnbc/elizabeth-warrens-plan-save-the-usps#50084</a>.

### **Authors and Contributors:**

Thomas A. Schatz, President

Leslie K. Paige, V.P. of Policy & Communications

Deborah Collier, Director of Technology & Telecommunications Policy

Allen B. Johnson III, Director of Government Affairs

Curtis Kalin, Director of Communications

Sean Kennedy, Director of Research

Elizabeth Wright, Director of Health & Science Policy

Spencer Chretien, Manager of State Policy & Government Affairs

Peter Klensch, Manager of Policy & Government Affairs

Cover Design by Ally Abrams



1100 Connecticut Ave, N.W. Suite 650 Washington, D.C. 20036

> (202) 467-5300 www.cagw.org